NUREG/CR-1007 BNL-NUREG-51044

De Con Roze OK EVALUATION OF SELECTED SIGNAL PROCESSING METHODS FOR THE CHARACTERIZATION OF STEAM GENERATOR EDDY CURRENT SIGNALS

120555031837

HST LOUDY

WASHINGTON

US NRC PUBLIC DOCUMENT

2 AN

06

S.D. BROWN AND D.T. HAYFORD Battelle **Columbus** Laboratories

Date Published - August 1979

PREPARED FOR THE CORROSION SCIENCE GROUP DEPARTMENT OF NUCLEAR ENERGY BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY UPTON, NEW YORK 11973



Sponsored by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission **Division of Engineering Standards** Under Contract No. EY-76-C-02-0016

8004100025

NUREG/CR-1007 BNL-NUREG-51044 AN

EVALUATION OF SELECTED SIGNAL PROCESSING METHODS FOR THE CHARACTERIZATION OF STEAM GENERATOR EDDY CURRENT SIGNALS

S.D. BROWN AND D.T. HAYFORD Battelle Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201

Manuscript Completed - April 30, 1979 Date Published - August 1979

PREPARED FOR THE CORROSION SCIENCE GROUP DEPARTMENT OF NUCLEAR ENERGY BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY UPTON, NEW YORK 11973

SPONSORED BY U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION DIVISION OF ENGINEERING STANDARDS UNDER CONTRACT NO. EY-76-C-02-0016 NRC FIN NO. A-30119

NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, or any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for any third party's use, or the results of such use, of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed in this report, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights.

The views expressed in this report are not necessarily those of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

Available from National Technical Information Service Springfield, Virginia 22161

FOREWORD

Recent experience with the formation of small volume but fairly deep defects in once through steam generators (OTSG), particularly adjacent to the upper most support plates, has led to the need for further information on how well the .ddy current technique for inservice inspection can measure the depth of these defects. In contrast to the rather large volume phosphate wastage defects or the rather long stress corrosion cracks that have occurred in sludge pile areas, these defects tend to be rather small in volume and located very close to a tube support plate or tube sheet. Signals from the support plate or tube sheet, therefore, can distort or even mask the signals obtained from defects during a routine inservice inspection. They do not, however, prevent determination that there is a small defect present, in most cases, especially where the defect is large enough to have some safety significance. As part of the BNL Technical Assistance program for the Division of Engineering Standards of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, we have conducted an investigation at Battelle-Columbus Laboratories of the ability of eddy current inspections to determine the size and depth of these defects. The following report represents the results of their work, and an attempt by them to develop a simple signal subtraction method that is capable of eliminating the signals from the tube support plate and, therefore, give better definition to the portion of the eddy current signal from the defect.

This is the third report in a series by the Fabrication and Quality Assurance Section of Battelle-Columbus Laboratories in the area of detectability of defects in PWR steam generator tubing by eddy current techniques. The first report, reference 1, represented a measurement of the statistical reliability of the eddy current technique for detecting signals from various types of defects, simulating those that had been observed in PWR steam generator tubing up to that time. The second report, reference 2, dealt with the detectability of dents in the steam generator tubing, the detectability of magnetite deposits in the crevice between the tube and the tube support plate, and most importantly, the detectability of defects in

the.

steam generator tubing in areas that have been dented. Work is continuing at Battelle-Columbus on still a fourth phase of this program, which is an evaluation of the accuracy of the detection of steam generator defects using multi-frequency eddy current inspection methods.

The data in the present report should be of use to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission in assessing reliability of the eddy current inspection data on OTSG's and especially to the Office of Standards Development in their continuing assessment of the need for an improved basis for determining the reliability of inservice inspection, of nuclear steam generators, and the acceptability of these steam generators for continued service.

> John R. Weeks, Leader Corrosion Science Group Brookhaven National Laboratory

REFERENCES

- J.H. Flora, S.D. Brown, and J.R. Weeks, "Evaluation of the Eddy Current Method of Inspecting Steam Generator Tubing," BNL-NUREG-50512-R, Sept. 30, 1976.
- S.D. Brown and J.H. Flora, "Evaluation of the Eddy Current Method for the Inspection of Steam Generator Tubing - Denting," BNL-NUREG-50743, Sept. 30, 1977.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

INTRODUCTION	•	•	•	•	•	1
SUMMARY						3
OTSG DEFECT TYPES						4
EXPERIMENTAL INVESTIGATION	•	•	•	•	•	4
Defect Fabrication						4
Eddy Current Data Collection						4
Basis for the Development of Computer Subtraction Software						10
Software Description						11
BNL1 Program						14
BNL3 Program	•	ł	•	•	•	16
RESULTS		•				22
Subtraction of Support Plate Signals		ġ				22
Multifrequency Aspects of Steam Generator Tubing Inspection	i.	•	•	•	•	40
DISCUSSION						46
CONCLUSIONS						48
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS						49
REFERENCES						49

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I.	Distorted Support Plate Signal Resulting From Small Volume Defect in Proximity to Broached Support Plate	2
Figure 2.	OTSG Tubing Degradation	6
Figure 3.	OTSG Tubing Degradation	7
Figure 4.	Examples of OTSG Simulated Tube Defects	8
Figure 5.	Computer Subtraction System Block Diagram	13
Figure 6.	BNLI Program Flow Diagram	16
Figure 7.	BNL3 Program Flow Diagram	17
Figure 8.	Graphics Display Used for Signal Subtraction	19
Figure 9.	Specimen B. 54% Pit Centered in Support Plate	23
Figure 10.	Specimen B. 54% Deep Pit Centered in Support Plate.ML-2 Signal Analyzer	-
Figure II.	Specimen A. 66% Deep Pit at Support Plate Edge	24
Figure 12.	Strip Chart Recordings of Small Pit Signals In Proximity to Broached Support Plates	27
Figure 13.	Specimen E. Multiple Scallop 54% Deep at Support Plate	28
Figure 14.	Specimen F. Multiple Scallop 52% Deep at Support Plate Edge	29
Figure 15.	Specimen G. Multiple Scallop 41% Deep at Support Plate Edge	30
Figure 16.	Specimen H. HCF Crack 89% Deep Near Tube Support	31
Figure 17.	Specimen I. HCF Crack 32% Deep Near Support Plate	32
Figure 18.	Specimen J. HCF Crack 12% Deep Near Support Plate	33
Figure 19.	Specimen M. 44% Deep Candleflame at Support Plate Edge .	34
Figure 20.	Specimen L. 55% Deep Candleflame at Support Plate Edge .	35
Figure 21.	Specimen N. 41% Deep Candleflame at Support Plate Edge	35
Figure 22.	Specimen O. Candleflame 16% Deep Near Support Plate	36
Figure 23.	Fretting at Broached Support Plate.ML-2 Signal Analyzer	37

LIST OF FIGURES (Cont.)

LIST OF TABLES

Table I.	Summary of OTSG Defect Types	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	5
Table 2.	Summary of Defect Dimensions .													9

FINAL REPORT

on

EVALUATION OF SELECTED SIGNAL PROCESSING METHODS FOR THE CHARACTERIZATION OF STEAM GENERATOR EDDY CURRENT SIGNALS

to

BROOKHAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY Upton, New York

April 30, 1979

8

by

S. D. Brown and D. T. Hayford



BATTELLE Columbus Laboratories 505 King Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201

- ix -

EVALUATION OF SELECTED SIGNAL PROCESSING METHODS FOR THE CHARACTERIZATION OF STEAM GENERATOR EDDY CURRENT SIGNALS

by

S. D. Brown and D. T. Hayford

INTRODUCTION

Operating experience with race through steam generators (OTSG) has accumulated to the extent that secondary-side tube degradation has been observed in several operational units. Analysis of eddy current data from OTSG inservice inspections and the visual examination of pulled tubes (Oconee) would suggest that degradation is concentrated near the tube sheet or tube supports in tubes adjacent to open lanes and is of relatively small volume. This is in contrast with the recirculating steam generators where most of the tube defects are of relative large volume, i.e., wastage (here we exclude denting), and occur primarily in the sludge zone (0-10") above the tube sheet. (Palisades, Point Beach, Robinson, and Ginna are exceptions in that wastage or other large volume defects have been confirmed or are suspected at some tube support plate intersections.)

For the OTSG units, the occurrence of small volume defects in proximity to the tube sheet or tube support places a greater emphasis on the need for the development of specialized eddy-current inservice inspection methods since the tube sheet and tube support are extraneous test variables and can preclude defect detection and affect the reliable estimation of defect depth.

Figure I shows eddy-current signal patterns which result from a support plate and simulated high-cycle fatigue (HCF) crack separately and the composite signal which results when the HCF crack is placed in close proximity to a support plate edge. As can be seen, the composite signal is distorted, precluding the reliable estimation of defect depth.

The inability of conventional single frequency eddy current inservice inspection techniques to measure reliably the depth of small volume defects in



Tube Support





Wobble



= 675 KHz



Figure 1. Distorted support plate signal resulting from small volume defect in proximity to broached support plate

close proximity to the tube sheet and support plate has been recognized by the OTSG vendor (Babcock and Wilcox). The B&W Lynchburg Research Center has been using, since September, 1976, a proprietary computer subtraction technique for the off-line analysis of steam generator eddy current data in which a reference support signal is subtracted from a composite defect/support plate signal. Elimination of the extraneous support plate signal would then allow for a more reliable estimation of defect depth. Other inservice equipment vendors have also introduced specialized signal analysis to subtract extraneous signals.

Zetec has recently introduced the ML-2 digital signal analyzer for the subtraction of an extraneous test variable. The signal analyzer performs the same function as a computer subtraction program but is hard-wired implemented in a readily portable instrument package. CONAM has introduced a similar analog version.

The primary objective of this program was to implement a digital computer subtraction technique and evaluate the method using eddy current data derived from models of observed inservice defects. The Zetec ML-2 signal analyzer was also briefly examined. A secondary objective was to investigate the multifrequency aspects of eddy current inspection with regards to the detection and characterization of signal types.

SUMMARY

Digital subtraction techniques, in which a reference support plate signal is subtracted from a distorted support plate signal with the defect signal remaining as the resultant, have been examined by implementing computer programs on a PDP 11/40 and also using a commercially available signal analyzer. The average absolute error in measuring defect depth was found to be 6 percent when compared with the analog estimated depth for the defect scanned free of the extraneous support plate. When compared to the actual defect depth, the average absolute error was 14 percent.

Multifrequency eddy currents, in which a coil is excited at more than one frequency, offers advantages in characterizing certain primary or secondary side tube conditions. The use of more than one inspection frequency can provide additional information in the characterization of laminated support plates, tube dings and magnetic tube deposits.

OTSG DEFECT TYPES

Specific causative factors which give rise to particular OTSG defect types are discussed in References I and 2. Actual OTSG defect types which have been observed based on the visual examination and metallurgical analysis of pulled tubes are summarized in Table I. All of the defect types in Table I occur near the tubesheet or support plate. Pitting has also been observed in straight sections of tubing away from the influence of either the tubesheet or support plate.

Examples of OTSG defect types as observed on tubes pulled from Oconee units are shown in Figure 2 and 3. Figure 2a shows fretting wear on the steam generator tube as a result of tube contact with the broached support plate land area. Figure 2b illustrates the so-called "candleflame" defect which has occurred at the edge of the broached support plate. Figure 3a shows an example of pitting. Figure 3b illustrates an example of a high cycle fatigue crack. These cracks have been observed below the upper tubesheet and near the upper support plates.

EXPERIMENTAL INVESTIGATION

Defect Fabrication

In order to duplicate realistically the eddy current signatures for typical OTSG defect types, simulated defects were fabricated in the laboratory. Conventional electrodischarge machining (EDM) methods were used. Care was taken to model the size and shape of the simulated defect to that which has been observed from the visual and metallographic examinations of pulled tubes. OTSG defect types selected for consideration for this program included fretting, pitting, dings, high-cycle fatigue cracks, multiple scalloping and the candleflame. Photographic examples of typical simulated defects are shown in Figure 4. Detailed measurements on simulated flaws used in this study as well as specimen identification number are summarized in Table 2.

Eddy Current Data Collection

The experimental objectives were basically twofold: (1) to examine the multifrequency aspects of steam generator tubing inspection, and (2) after implementing a digital computer subtraction technique, collect eddy current data from

- 4 --

Defect Type	Location
• High-cycle fatigue crack	In proximity to upper tube sheet and upper support plates
• Pitting	Straight sections of tube and with in the broached support plate
• Candle-flame	In proximity to broached support plate
• Multiple scallop	In proximity to broached support plate
• Fretting	At broached support plate land contact area
• Ding	At edge of support plates at land contact region. Also a tube sheet
• Serpentine depression	At upper tube sheet
• Serpentine depression	At upper tube sheet

TABLE 1. SUMMARY OF OTSG DEFECT TYPES



 $\sim 5X$

(a) Fretting Wear at 15th Tube Support Plate





Figure 2. OTSG tubing degradation



 $\sim 20X$

(a) Pitting at a 15th Tube Support plate land contact area



20X

- Propagation

Origin

Propagation -

(b) Through-wall crack

Figure 3. OTSG tubing degradation



Figure 4. Examples of OTSG simulated tube defects

				Dimensions	
			Maximum Depth,		Width,
Defect Type	. Specimen No.	Geometry	percent of wall	Length of Diameter	inches
Simple Pitting	A	See Figure 4f	66	0.014 inches	
	В	Ditto	54	0.022 "	
	С		42	0.013 "	
	D	"	21	0.005 "	
Multiple Scalloping	Е	See Figure 4c	54	0.221 inches	0.223
	F	Ditto	52	0.175 "	0.239
	G	"	41	0.106 "	
High-Cycle Fatigue	н	See Figure 4e	89	360 degrees	0.003-0.010
	I	Ditto	32	217 "	0.007
	J	"	12	174 "	0.004
Candle Flame	L	See Figure 4d	55	0.224 inches	0.086
	М	Ditto	44	0.210 "	0.086
	N	11	41	0.211 "	0.075
	0	"	16	0.196 "	0.076
Fretting	Р	See Figure 4b	34	1.5 inches	0.135
	Q	Ditto	19	1.5 "	0.135
	R	"	5	1.5 "	0.135

TABLE 2. SUMMARY OF DEFECT DIMENSIONS

OTSG defect types located in proximity to tube supports which in turn would be processed using the subtraction technique and assess the capability of the technique in providing estimates of defect depth.

The collection of the initial eddy current data was accomplished using conventional ISI analog instrumentation techniques. The equipment complement included an EM-3300 eddy current instrument, a Teac FM-2300 two-channel magnetic tape recorder, a Brush 220 strip chart recorder and a Zetec probe pusher/puller. A Zetec 520 LC probe was used. Tube lengths were mounted vertically in a small laboratory mockup in order to approximate actual inservice probe dynamics. Guidelines for the establishment of initial eddy current instrumentation settings and the construction of appropriate phase angle versus depth calibration curves were based on the ASME Section XI procedure. Support plate subtraction was accomplished using eddy current data at 675 KHz. This frequency in the thinner OTSG tube wall (0.037 inch) gives a phase angle spread comparable to 400 KHz in the thicker wall (0.050 inch) U-bend generator tubing.

Basis for the Development of Computer Subtraction Software

The major assumption behind the use of computer subtraction to eliminate the effects of support plates on eddy current defect signals is that the composite signal from a support plate in conjunction with a defect is the linear combination of the signals from each alone. In equation form,

$$X_{comp} = X_{sp} + X_{d}$$
(1)
$$Y_{comp} = Y_{sp} + Y_{d}$$

where the X_i and Y_i are the inphase and quadrature components of the eddy current signals from the composite, the support alone, and the defect alone, respectively. It is then possible to find the eddy current signal from the defect alone by subtracting the support plate signal from the composite signal obtained during the inservice inspection of a steam generator. Hence,

$$X_d = X_{comp} - X_{sp}$$

 $Y_d = Y_{comp} - Y_{sp}$
(2)

Ideally, we would subtract the same support plate signal as is contained in the composite signal; practically, this is impossible. Most support plate signals, however, resemble each other enough so that one may be substituted for another. Conversely, a number of reference support plates could be kept on file to find the best match to the support plate signal contained in the composite.

The X_i and Y_i in Equation 2 are all explicit functions of the position along a tube; they are, at best, only implicit functions of time, the defining relationship being the velocity at which the eddy current probe traverses the tube. However, it is only practical to measure them as functions of time, with the proviso that the probe speed remain constant.

Before the subtraction of the support plate signal from the composite signal can take place, the X and Y components of each signal must be lined up in time. Usually, one lobe of the tube support in the composite is unaffected. As long as the velocity of the probe remains the same when measuring the composite signal and the reference support signal, it is possible to line up the undistorted lobes to effect a good cancellation of the support in the defect area. If probe velocity varies between the reference support signal and the composite, then appropriate scaling must be performed prior to alignment.

Two types of alignment schemes were considered. The first used a cross-correlation technique to decide when the undistorted lobes were aligned. For continuous functions, the cross-correlation between them is defined as

$$C(\tau) = \int f_1(t) f_2(t - \tau) dt$$

which is a maximum when τ is suitably chosen and occurs when f_1 and f_2 are aligned, where $f_1(t)$ and $f_2(t - \tau)$ are the reference and distorted plate signals, respectively, and τ is the time shift between them.

A visual alignment approach, wherein the operator moved the composite signal back and forth until he was satisfied with the cancellation, was also implemented. The visual technique was nearly as accurate as cross-correlation technique when the probe speed was constant; thus the latter was eliminated in favor of the visual alignment.

Software Description

Two major programs were written in the investigation of support plate suppression by computer subtraction. The first, called BNL1, performed the

- 11 -

analog-to-digital conversions necessary to digitize the various composite and support plate signals. The second, named BNL3, performed the actual reference support plate subtraction. Both programs were written in Fortran for operation on a DEC PDP 11/40. Various subroutines were also written to perform many of actual functions of BNL1 and BNL3. These were written in either Fortran or DEC assembly language. Copies of all programs are included in the Appendix.

The flexibility and ease of operation of these two programs was greatly enhanced by two BCL-developed features - the command interpreter and the filedirectory handler. The command interpreter is a subroutine (COMMAND) which allows the computer operator to control the function of the computer by entering easy-to-remember four-letter symbols. The subroutine would examine the entry, and, if from the correct list, would direct the computer to the proper segment. If the entry is not from the correct list, the subroutine would prompt the operator for a correct entry by printing out the correct list. After the computer performs each segment, as directed by the interpreter, the program control would return to the interpreter to await the next command.

The file-directory handler is actually a group of subroutines (ATTIN, ATTOUT, DIROPN, DIRCLD) which greatly simplify reading data from and writing data to the system disk. Each time the operator attempts to save the digitized data generated by BNL1, the file-directory handler would look up the next unused name and print it out to the operator. The operator has the choice of storing the data under that name, or may use some other name. However, if the operator always follows the suggestion of the file-directory handler, inadvertent elimination of old data by storing new data under the same name is prevented. In the same way, a second operator could never erase data stored by the first operator if the computer's suggestions are always followed.

These two features have provided programs with a great deal of flexibility but which are nearly foolproof and can be used by operators with relatively little training or experience.

The hardware used for the off-line analysis of the eddy current data is shown in Figure 5. The equipment outlined by the dashed line shows the conventional analog instrumentation used for the collection of the initial eddy current data. Once the analog eddy current data were acquired they could be played back through a signal conditioner (scaling resistor) and digitized using an A/D converter for the subsequent routing into the PDP-11/40 computer memory.



Figure 5. Computer subtraction system block diagram

The RKO5 disk unit stored the original BNL1/BNL3 programs, auxiliary peripheral programs, as well as processed data. The data console allows for the operator to interact with the various programs via the graphics terminals which provide for the display of data in their various stages of processing.

BNLI Program

The function of program BNL1 is threefold: to control the system ADC's that digitize the eddy current data, to display the captured data so that the operator may perform certain simple operations on it, and, finally, to save the captured data on the system disk. The flow chart for BNL1 is given in Figure 6, where the underlined words indicate the command, recognized by the command interpreter, for performing each function. The purpose of each command is detailed below.

> <u>DAT</u>: Initialize all buffer and array sizes to work with a total of 0.5 second of <u>data</u>; used to capture composite and support plate signals. (Default value)

> STD: Same as DAT, but a total of 0.3 second. Used mainly to store ASME standards for display purposes.

DIGI: Begin the digitizing process. When the command is entered, the ADC's are enabled, with a sampling rate of 4 KHz. The x-channel (ADC channel 2) is sampled first, followed almost immediately by the y-channel (ADC channel 3). After the first 0.5 second (0.3 if <u>STD</u> is in effect), the data buffers are filled; however, the last 0.5 second (0.3 second) of data is always retained in the buffers. The ADC's are disabled by typing a carriage return and the last 0.5 (0.3) second of data is displayed on the graphics terminal.

WIND: Bracket the desired data with a window. Since we must allow time for the operator to react and turn off the ADC's we must actually digitize more data than necessary. Storing and processing this extra data are inefficient, so we allow the operator to indicate which part of the data he wishes to retain. The starting point of the window is controlled by voltage fed into the ADC (channel 0). The length of the window is controlled by voltage fed into the ADC (channel 0). The length of the window is controlled by the DAT or



Figure 6. BNI 1 program flow diagram

<u>STD</u> option in effect (0.25 second for <u>DAT</u>, 0.15 second for <u>STD</u>). Pressing a carriage return locks the window in its last position. At this time, the x-t and y-t data may be plotted as x-y data.

ZM: Allows the operator to shift the x-t and y-t data up and down so that the bracketed data has a zero mean.

<u>TITL</u>: Allows the operator to read the current <u>titles</u>. The titles are stored with the data to permanently identify it. Alternatively, the operator may change the titles, if necessary.

<u>SAVE</u>: Instructs the computer to <u>save</u> the bracketed data, along with the current titles, on the system disk.

The operation of BNL1 is fairly straightforward, and follows the flow chart directly. The operator starts the program and types either <u>DAT</u> or <u>STD</u>. (<u>DAT</u> is more usual, and is the default option.) He then turns the tape recorder on and plays the tape until it is at some point previous to the location of the data of interest. After typing DIGI, he restarts the tape until the data has shown on the vectorscope screen and then presses the carriage return to stop the digitizer. (the operator has roughly 0.25 second to respond). He is then able to view the captured data on the graphics terminal. If the correct data has been captured, the operator continues on with <u>WIND</u>, <u>ZM</u>, <u>TITL</u>, and ultimately, with <u>SAVE</u>. If the wrong data were captured, or the correct data were only partially captured (generally caused by the operator reacting too slowly) the operator need only rewind the tape, restart the digitizer, and proceed again.

The above process may be repeated as many times as necessary until all the data has been captured.

BNL3 Program

The program BNL3 works with the support plate signals to eliminate the effects of the support plate on eddy current defect signals. The flow chart for this program is shown in Figure 7. As in the previous section, the underlined words refer to the proper command mnemonics.

In this program, the inphase and quadrature x-t and y-t signals are displayed on the graphics terminal in three different displays. A description of each display type is given below.



Figure 7. BNL 3 program flow diagram

The first graphic display, Figure 8a, is used during the alignment of the composite signal and the reference support plate signal. Displayed are the quadrature or y-t signals for each case. The y-t for the support signal is fixed while the horizontal position of the y-t component of the composite signal is variably controlled by the operator with a voltage to the ADC. Also shown on the display are a vertical bar and two words, MAG and END. If a light pen touches the word MAG, the y-t for both signals are magnified, with the part beyond the vertical bar being displayed. This magnification may be repeated as many times as necessary (the magnification is by two each time) to allow accurate alignment of the two pictures. Touching the word END returns the graphic display is the original display and prints out the number of units the second picture was shifted in order to align the two y-t displays.

The second graphic display, Figure 8b, is the normal mode, and contains, side by side, three areas for x-y plots of eddy current data. The three areas are called Picture 1, 2, and 3, starting at the left. In the normal mode of operation, Picture 1 contains the reference support plate signal, while Picture 2 contains the composite support and defect signal. Picture 3 will contain the eddy current signal remaining after the computer subtracts the support plate in Picture 1 from the composite signal in 2. For convenience, though, any data set, captured by BNL1, may be read from the disk and displayed in any of the three pictures.

The third graphic display (not shown), is simply an enlargement of any one of the three pictures in the previous display.

The various commands accepted by this program and their function are detailed below:

GETD:

Get data. Retrieves data stored under the DAT instruction from BNL1. Composite and support plate signals prompt the operator for the proper data file number and the proper location (Picture 1, 2, or 3).





Figure 8. Graphics display used for signal subtraction

EXP: Provides a constant-factor expansion of any of the three pictures. In general, both Pictures I and 2 should have the same expansion factor.

- <u>GETS:</u> <u>GET</u> standard. Retrieve any data stored under the STD instruction from BNL1. Otherwise, the same as GETD.
- ALIN: Change the display so that the y-t from Pictures I and 2 are shown. Allows the operator to align the two by changing the voltage input to the A/D converter. The portion of the picture beyond the vertical bar is expanded when the word MAG is touched with a light pen. When the work END is touched, the display returns to normal and the necessary time shift between Pictures I and 2 is displayed.
- SHFT: Shifts the x-t and y-t data in Picture 2 by the amount typed in. The shift distance may be either positive or negative, and may contain a fractional part. Fractional shifts are done b' a parabolic interpolation. A shift of one unit (1.0) corresponds to a time shift of 0.25 ms.
- <u>SUB:</u> <u>Subtracts the y-t and x-t of Picture 1 from the y-t and x-t of Picture 2. The result is displayed in Picture 3.</u>
- MAG: Provides a <u>magnified</u> view of the x-y display of Pictures I, 2, or 3, as chosen by the operator. Magnification is ended by entering a carriage return. A plot on the x-y plotter of the magnified picture can be obtained at this time.
- <u>CLIP</u>: <u>Clips</u> out the leading and trailing edges of any picture (1, 2, 3) to eliminate noise that may confuse a picture. The leading edge is determined by the voltage input to ADC channel 0. The trailing edge is determined by the voltage input to ADC 1. Especially effective on Picture 3.
- <u>HCPY</u>: Provide a hardcopy, via an x-y plotter of Pictures 1, 2, 3. Useful for making a permanent record.

Because the scope of BNL3 is much larger than that of BNL1, its use is somewhat more complex, with more operator interaction and judgement called into play. It is recommended that it be used only by personnel intimately familiar with eddy current characterization of defects in steam generator tubes.

To recall data stored on disk, the operator types <u>GETD</u>. He is prompted for the data set number (the number under which it was stored in BNL1) and the picture number. If the operator wishes merely to view the data, he may place it in Picture 1, 2, or 3. However, if he wishes to perform a subtraction he must display standard support signals in Picture 1, and composite signals in Picture 2. Once a data set has been displayed, the operator may, at his option, expand the scale of any picture by typing <u>EXP</u>. The expansion is the same in both the x and y directions and lasts only until a new data set is displayed in the same picture. In general, both Pictures I and 2 should have the same expansion.

Once the proper data sets have been selected and displayed in Pictures I and 2, the operator types <u>ALIN</u> to vie v the y-t for both pictures. Because probe wobble is set to the horizontal in most applications, the y-t is used for alignment, rather than the x-t. The y-t from Picture I is fixed on the display terminal, while the start position of the y-t from Picture 2 until the two are aligned in time. If the operator desires an enlargement, he moves the vertical bar on the graphics terminal by controlling the input voltage to ADC channel I. If the light pen touches the word MAG on the screen, the portion of the y-t to the right of the bar is displayed at twice the horizontal scale. Touching the word <u>END</u> with the light pen causes the screen to revert to the normal mode, and the amount the second picture should be shifted to align with the first picture is printed on the terminal. However, the shift is not performed until he operator types <u>SHFT</u>, along with the proper distance.

Picture I may then be subtracted from Picture 2 by typing <u>SUB</u>. The result is displayed in Picture 3. The operator then has several options which may enhance the interpretation. First, he may obtain a paper plot on the x-y plotter of any of the three pictures by typing HCPY. He may also blow up any of the three pictures by typing MAG, and he may also obtain a x-y plot of the blown-up picture. Finally, he may clip out leading and trailing edges of any of the three pictures to eliminate noise which may hide small defect signals. This is done by typing CLIP

and using the ADC channels 0 and 1 to control the leading edge and trailing edge. This command is especially useful with Picture 3.

At this point, the operator has completed the steps necessary to perform one subtraction. If more are desired, he merely displays the new composite and or standard support signals with GETD and begins again.

RESULTS

Subtraction of Support Plate Signals

The application of the computer programs discussed previously for the digitization of eddy current data and the subtraction of a reference support plate signal from a distorted support plate signal are now considered. Also considered are similar results using the ML-2 signal analyzer. Examples are given of the computer reconstruction of the reference support plate signal used for subtraction, the distorted support plate signal (support plate signal plus defect signal) and their difference. For comparison, the conventional analog eddy current Lissajous pattern for the defect of interest scanned free of the support plate is also shown. The difference between the results of the digital subtraction technique and the conventional analog signal pattern as reflected through an ASME Section XI calibration curve can be taken as a measure of error associated with the subtraction process. Of equal importance is the computer subtraction estimated depth compared with the true defect depth. This error is more important from the viewpoint of establishing safety margins for plugging criteria, but contains error attributable to the eddy current technique itself as well as error introduced by variables associated with the subtraction process.

Figure 9 illustrates reference and distorted support plate (DSP) signals, their subtraction and the analog eddy current pattern for a simple pit. As is evident, the results of the subtraction process are similar to the analog trace. The equivalency of the computer subtraction process and the ML-2 signal analyzer is shown in Figure 10. Figure 10a shows the reference, distorted support plate and resultant subtraction. Notice that the resultant signal exhibits a residual signal. This can be removed by appropriate control of the vector analyzer intensity control on which the outputs of the signal analyzer are displayed. This same feature was implemented as the CLIP subroutine described previously in the BNL2 program. An



Figure 9. Specimen B. 54% pit centered in support plate



Distorted Support Plate

Resultant

Reference

Support Plate



(b) Resultant signal expanded

Figure 10. Specimen B. 54% deep pit centered in support plate ML-2 signal analyzer

expanded view of the resultant signal is shown in Figure 10b. Notice the similarity with the resultant signal in Figure 9.

Figure 11 illustrates computer subtraction results for a pit located at the edge of the broached support plate. The resultant signal is of very small amplitude and if the trace is analyzed dynamically, the phase angle illustrated results. As can be seen, the resultant phase angle is similar to the original analog eddy current angle. The pit in Figure 9 was centered within the support plate whereas the pit shown in Figure 11 was at the support plate edge. This can be seen by examining the strip chart recordings shc /n in Figure 12.

Figures 13 through 15 illustrate more complex signals which arise when simulated multiple scalloping defects are placed in proximity to a broached support plate edge. From the DSP signal, one can see the undistorted entrance loop and the distorted exit loop structure caused by the support plate edge. Similarity of the computer reconstructed patterns to the chalog signal is apparent.

Examples of extraneous signal subtraction as applied to models of highcycle fatigue cracks are illustrated in Figures 16 through 18. The defects were placed approximately 1/8 inch from the support plate edge. There is fairly good correlation between the analog signal patterns and the subtracted result. Figure 17 is a good illustration of how the subtraction process is implemented using either the computer subtraction method or ML-2 signal analyzer. Notice that the DSP signal entrance loop is not distorted as compared to the reference support plate signal entrance loop. In using the subtraction technique, the delay or time shift between the reference support plate and the DSP is varied such that in the subtracted result, the undistorted portion of the support plate signal is a minimum. Notice that in Figure 17, the support plate residual in the subtracted result is minimal.

Figures 19 through 22 show results for the simulated candleflame defect. This defect was also located at the broached support plate edge as can be seen by the distortion of the support plate exit loop.

The defect types considered up to this point have always occurred at the edge of the support plate. Hence, for alignment of the reference subtracted support plate signal, the undistorted support plate entrance or exit loop has been available. For fretting-type defects, distortion of both support plate loops can be expected. Experiments in subtracting support plate signals from composite fretting/support plate signals were accomplished using the Zetec ML-2 signal analyzer. Results are illustrated in Figure 23. Shown are the support plate



Figure 11. Specimen A. 66% deep pit at support plate edge



Figure 12. Strip chart recordings of small pit signals in proximity to broached support plates






Figure 13. Specimen E. Multiple scallop 54% deep at support plate



Figure 14. Specimen F. Multiple scallop 52% deep at support plate edge

Support + defect A62 Tube support A58-TSP B Digitized 13-Nov-78 1000 pairs DAT #4 Digitized 13-Nov-78 1000 pairs DAT #9 Resultant Analog signal scanned free of support plate R

Figure 15. Specimen G. Multiple scallop 41% deep at support plate edge



Figure 16. Specimen H. HCF crack 89% deep near tube support

Reference Support



Distorted Support Plate

Resultant



Analog signal scanned free of support plate

Figure 17. Specimen I. HCF crack 32% deep near support plate



Figure 18. Specimen J. HCF crack 12% deep near support plate

Reference Support Plate

Resultant



Distorted Support plate



Analog signal scanned free of support plate

Figure 19. Specimen M. 44% deep candleflame at support plate edge



Distorted support plate

Resultant

Reference

Figure 20. Specimen L. 55% deep candleflame at support plate edge



Distorted Support Plate

Figure 21. Specimen N. 41% deep candleflame at support plate edge









Resultant

Analog signal scanned free of support plate





Figure 22. Specimen O. Candleflame 16% deep near support plate



Specimen R - 5% deep



Specimen Q - 19% deep









Specimen P - 34% deep
Reference support, distorted support
and resultant (clockwise)

Analog signal scanned free of support plate

Figure 23. Fretting at broached support plate. ML-2 signal analyzer

reference signal, the distorted support plate signal and the result of the subtraction process. The fretting signals scanned free of the extraneous support plate are also illustrated for comparison.

Estimates of the accuracy of digital subtraction techniques can be derived by reading the appropriate phase angle from the reconstructed signal and comparing with the analog signal phase angle from the defect free of the tube support plate. Depth estimates for both the analog and digitally constructed patterns can be done using a calibration standard that relates phase angle to flaw depth. The difference between the analog and digital depth estimates is a true estimate of the subtraction technique error.

It is important to realize that the difference between the subtraction depth estimate and the actual defect depth can contain a systematic error introduced by the choice of standard used to establish the original phase angle versus depth transfer function. As an example, if large and small volume flatbottomed holes are used to establish an eddy current phase angle versus depth curve, the extreme curves shown in Figure 24 will result. The ASME Section XI standard represents a compromise in flat-bottomed hole volume such that in general a dashed line curve which represents an average between the two curves in Figure 24 results. If the dashed line calibration curve is used to estimate detect depth independent of signal amplitude or defect volume, then as can be seen a conservative or overestimation of defect depth results for large volume defects. For small volume defects an underestimation of the defect depth results.

Figure 25 shows scatter plots for the subtraction method estimated defect depth. Two types of error are illustrated, i.e., the correlation between the actual defect depth and the subtraction estimate, and the correlation between the analog eddy current estimated depth and the subtraction estimate. The average absolute error curve for both error types is 14 and 6 percent, respectively.

One of the more interesting results from Figure 25 is specimen H which was a simulated high-cycle fatigue crack. The crack was made to correspond to Figure 2b in which a near through wall crack exists with some propagation of the crack around the circumference of the tube. The eddy current data gave a signal which suggests a crack nominally 30 percent through the wall. The difficulty is the averaging effect of the circumferential eddy current flow. Present ID bobbin-coil designs are designed for the detection of predominantly axially oriented discontinuities. The true characterization of circumferentially oriented defects could be



Figure 24. General effect of flaw volume on eddy current phase angle



Figure 25. Correlation of subtraction estimated depth with eddy current and the depth

achieved by other coil designs, i.e., rotating pancake coil or a tangential differential coil in which the eddy current flow is directed along the tube axis.

Multifrequency Aspects of Steam Generator Tubing Inspection

The choice of eddy current coil excitation frequency is an important parameter with regards to the characterization of signals which can occur during the inservice inspection of steam generators. For certain defect types and inspection frequencies, the resultant eddy current signature is non-unique and the unambiguous recognition of what is occurring on the secondary or primary side of the tube is not possible. The use of more than one frequency to characterize a signal type represents a powerful tube inspection tool in attempting to identify causative factors giving rise to the signal. The term multifrequency eddy current is used in the sense of exciting the test coil either sequentially or simultaneously at more than one frequency.

Tube dings can give rise to eddy current signals which can be confused with shallow secondary side corrosion or thinning. Figure 26 shows the signal from a tube ding and shallow secondary side attack at 675 KHz. Both signals are similar in that they both start to the left (negative x-direction). If the shallow secondary side attack is examined at a lower frequency, the signal pattern rotates in the counterclockwise direction. The ding signal does not rotate if probe wobble is used as the reference axis. For the example considered on Figure 26, it is also apparent that the use of lower inspection frequencies (400 KHz for 0.037-inch wall tube or 200 KHz for 0.050-inch-wall tube) would lead to the more reliable detection of shallow thinning attack, where probe wobble is an extraneous variable, since again the signal is rotated off the wobble prone horizontal channel.

Another interesting feature of the ding is its occurrence in conjunction with secondary side attack. Figure 27a shows the signal which results from a small ding with a 100 percent through-wall hole. The frequency used was 675 KHz. Notice that the ding signal is rotated in the counterclockwise direction (compare with Figure 26) but it mimics the response of an approximate 20 percent secondary side defect. The ambiguity is resolved by lowering the inspection frequency. Figure 27b shows the eddy current response at 200 KHz for the same ding/throughhele combination. Notice the signal is rotated in the counterclockwise direction.







(b) Shallow OD signal - 675 KHz



(c) Shallow OD signal - 400 KHz

Figure 26. Tube ding/shallow OD discrimination





(a) 675 KHz







Figure 27. Tube ding characterization at different frequencies

At a still lower frequency, i.e., 55 KHz, the ding is essentially transparent allowing for the through-wall hole to become dominant.

One OTSG generator has a broached hole tube support plate which was fabricated from carbon steel plate containing laminations. During the inservice inspection of the steam generator, distorted support plate signals or defect-like signals were observed within the support plate. Figure 28 shows the eddy current patterns which result from a laminated support plate at three frequencies. Notice the defect-like signal which occurs within the central region of the support plate entrance and exit lobes. As the inspection frequency is changed, notice that the entire signal pattern rotates. A true secondary side defect would exhibit a different rotation rate as the frequency is changed.

The detection of small pitting, while not of a safety concern, is of interest to the utility from a plant availability standpoint. Experiments in detecting small pits were conducted by scanning a series of pits at different frequencies. The initial test setups for each frequency were normalized by setting probe wobble on the horizontal axis and adjusting the EM-3300 sensitivity setting so that the response from a 100 percent through wall hole (ASME STD) was the same. Figure 29a shows the strip chart recordings of the inphase and quadrature components from a small through-wall pit. Notice that the vertical channel amplitude is largest at 400 KHz. Normally, the vertical channel is monitored for the detection of defects at 400 KHz. The eddy current Lissajous pattern rotates in the counterclockwise direction, which basically projects more of the signal onto the vertical channel. Hence, the signal rotation aspects, where defect components are rotated off the horizontal or wobble prone axis, would lead to enhanced detectability at a lower frequency.

For the pit size extremes considered in this test program (see Table 2), only specimens A and B were detected. The smaller pitting examples, i.e., specimens C and D could not be detected. These results were independent of frequency over a range from 100-675 KHz.

The existence of tube ID noise, which is the result of manufacturing processes, introduces another factor which must be considered when optimum inspection frequencies are being explored. Figure 29b shows the strip chart recordings of a small pit 0.022 inch in diameter approximately 60 percent through



 (a) Laminated broached support plate signal showing psuedo defect - 100 KHz



(b) Same signal pattern at 200 KHz



(c) Same signal pattern at 400 KHz

Figure 28. Distorted broached support plate signals at different frequencies



 ${\bf b}_i$





(b) ID noise effects

Figure 29. Small flaw detectability considerations

the tube wall. Recordings for two frequencies are illustrated. For each frequency, probe wobble was set on the horizontal and the sensitivity adjusted to obtain the same response from the ASME STD 100 percent through wall hole.

As Figure 29b illustrates, the phase angle differences between wobble and ID noise increase as probe excitation frequency is decreased. With wobble initially set on the horizontal channel, the phase angle difference between ID noise and wobble at 675 KHz is essentially zero, hence the tube ID noise shows up only on the horizontal channel. As frequency is decreased, the ID noise rotates off the wobble axis and is projected onto the vertical axis. This explains why the vertical channel becomes more noisy as frequency is lowered. In general, a higher defect signal-to-noise ratio for both channels is obtained at a lower inspection frequency for the situation in which ID noise is predominant.

Secondary side tube deposits can sometimes give rise to pseudo defect signals. Again, by examining the suspect signal at different frequencies, information to the legitimacy of a true tube defect can be acquired. Figure 30a shows eddy current signal patterns which result when magnetite is wrapped around a tube. Notice that as the frequency is lowered, the signal pattern rotates in the counterclockwise direction in a manner not characteristic of a true tube defect. Figure 30b illustrates distorted tube sheet entry signals caused by wrapping increasing amounts of magnetite around the tube. As the mass of magnetite is increased, the tube sheet entry signal becomes more flattened and elongated.

DISCUSSION

Digital subtraction techniques in which an extraneous test variable, i.e., tube support signal, is subtracted from a distorted plate signal is an effective means for characterizing small volume defects located in proximity to support plates. The success of the method would be dependent on the matching of the reference signal to an undistorted portion of the distorted plate signal.

Various conditions within the OTSG steam generator can give rise to the need for different support plate reference signals. Those that have been identified to date would include tube ID noise and cold work. Cold work is introduced into a tube as the result of mechanical wear or fretting of the tube as it



(a) Psuedo signals resulting from

magnetite wrapped around tube



400 KHz

400 KHz

Magnetite distorted

(Amount of magnetite increases in clockwise direction)

Magnetite distorted

Normal

200 KHz

(b) Normal and distorted tube sheet signals

Figure 30. Eddy current response to magnetic tube deposits

vibrates against the broached support plate. ID noise is the result of surface abnormalities introduced during tube manufacturing processes which can superimpose a noise-like signal on the support plate signal. The ID noise signature of a particular tube tends to be somewhat unique. Using ID noise data obtained from other tubes would result in the imperfect cancellation of the desired support plate signal.

The use of subtraction methods is a cost-effective method of characterizing distorted support plate signals in a situation where the total number of signals to be analyzed is relatively small. The advantage of the technique is that it can be accomplished using conventional inservice inspection instrumentation. As the number of distorted plate signals increase, and with the presence of tube ID noise or dings, multiparameter eddy current methods would probably be more cost effective, i.e., minimizing outage time. A second advantage of the multiparameter method is that eddy current data can be taken at different frequencies allowing one to resolve certain signal ambiguities as they arise by simple frequency discrimination. All of the necessary data can be gathered in one probing of the tube again offering advantages over present inspection methods where a tube may be probed two or three times, i.e., 200 KHz, 400 KHz, and 600 KHz.

CONCLUSIONS

- A computer subtraction method has been implemented and applied to eddy current data derived from simulated once-through steam generator tubing defects. Based on experimental studies, the average absolute error between the true defect depth and that provided by the subtraction method is 14 percent.
- The subtraction method coupled with existing ISI coil design, is not foolproof and depending on the defect type, i.e., high-cycle fatigue crack, or in some cases, distorted tube sheet entry signals, the use of alternate coil types such as a rotating pancake coil, can provide better information as to tube condition.

• A steam generator can be a complex signal environment and the use of more than one coil excitation frequency, i.e., multifrequency, can provide additional information in identifying causative factors affecting tube condition.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The use of the Zetec ML-2 Signal Analyzer was through the courtesy of Mr. Albert Curtiss III from the Rochester Gas and Electric Materials Engineering Laboratory.

REFERENCES

1.

- Tube Damage Once Through Steam Generators. Sarver and Rigdon, Babcock and Wilcox, Alliance Research Center. Corrosion Advisory Committee Meeting, Electric Power Research Institute, February 7, 1978. (Used by permission)
- 2. Computer Analysis of Eddy Current Signals. Whaley and Wehrmeister, Babcock and Wilcox, Lynchburg Research Center. Second International Conference on Nondestructive Evaluation in the Nuclear Industry, February, 1978, Salt Lake City, Utah.

APPENDIX A

COMPUTER PROGRAMS

SUMMARY

Program Title	Program Descriptor	Page
BNL I	Program to digitize and store steam generator tube data	A-1
BNL 3	Program to subtract tube support data patterns from steam generator tube data	A-6
Subroutine ASKPIC	This routine prompts the operator for a picture number. A response other than 1, 2, or 3 is invalid.	A-13
BNL 3 D	Program to generate a display buffer to be used by Program BNL 3	A-14
Subroutine ATTIN	This subroutine attaches a file for input by checking the file name directory for the file name and de- fault sequence number. Either the default will be used or the operator will be prompted for one.	A-16
Subroutine ATTOUT	This subroutine attaches a file for output by checking the file name directory for the file name and the next available sequence number; then, either the default number will be used or the operator will be prompted for one.	A-18
Subroutine DIROPN	This subroutine attaches the file name directly, looks up the requested entry, and reports the current and next sequence numbers.	A-20
Subroutine DIRCLO	This subroutine updates and closes the file name directory.	A-21
Subroutine COMAND	A four-character command is input from the keyboard and a search is made for a match. If no match is found, all commands are listed out and the routine waits for another input.	A-22

Program Title	Program Descriptor	Page
Subroutine TITLE	This subroutine lists the 40-character title contained in array ITITLE, asks the operator if he wants to change it, and returns with either the old title or a new title as entered by the operator.	A-23
Function NROUND	This function performs integer round- ing of a real number, rounding up for a positive, and down for a negative.	A-24
Subroutine DATCHK	This routine checks for a current date; if no current date exists, exe- cution is halted.	A-25
Subroutine DRAW	Plots the x-y data on the display terminal	A-26
Function KEYBRD	This function is used to put the key- board into a special mode and then checks to see if a (CR) has been pressed.	A-27

FORTR	AN IV	v	21C-03A TUE 28-NOV-78 20:02:22	
2221		PROGR	AM ENLI	
	C			
	C	PROGR	AM TO DIGITIZE AND STORE	
	C	STEAM	GENERATOR TUBE DATA	
	C			
	C	PROGR	AMMED SEPT 1978.	
	C	CHIP	WILSON	
	C	BATTE	LLE COLUMBUS LABORATORIES.	
	C			
	C	SPONS	OREC BY:	
	C	BROOK	HAVEN NATIONAL LABORATORY	
	C			
2202		REAL	8 XMEAN, YMEAN	
0203		DIMEN	SION VERB(12), ICISP(3520), IXY(4002), ITI L1(10), ITITL2(10)) .
		1 2	DATE(5),WINDOW(2),ACROSS(2), YCROSS(2), ITITL3(10), SIZE(2)	
	C			
2824		DATA	ITITL1/1 1, 1NO1, 1 T1, 1IT1, 1LE1, 5+1 1/	
2205		DATA	ITITL2/1 1, INCI, 1 TI, IITI, ILE1, 5.1 1/	
2226		ATAC	VERB/ DIGI', 'WIND', 'ZM ', 'HCPY', 'SAVE', 'SIZE',	
		\$	ITITL', ISTO I, IDAT I, 3x'EXIT'/	
2007		CATA	WINDOW, XCROSS, YCROSS/5*2.2/, SIZE/52 V./	
88085		DATA	ITHIND/1/, XLIND, YLIND/2+0.2/, NTYPE/2/	
2229		CATA	1XY/4328*2/, IDATE/5*"22640/	
2012		DATA	NUM . NUM2 . NPAIR/1/20. 2.2020/	
2011		FACT	= FLOAT(NPATE)/1222.	
2212		CALL		
0013		CALL		
	C	CHEL	SATURA	
	C	INITI	ALTZE CRARLING AND DRAM FORES.	
		14111	ALIZE GRA-RIES ARE ERAN ESTEST	
2011		CALL	INITIOTED, ZETAN	
0014		CALL		
0011		CALL	10kT(10, 125.)	
2047		CALL	VECT (1200 - 0 -)	
2340		CALL		
2010		CALL		
0619		CALL	VECT(-1020.) 0.)	
2020		CALL		
2021		CALL		
00222		CALL		
0023		CALL	VECT(0., -120., 0, -3)	
2024		CALL	VECT(-1000., 0.)	
0025		CALL	VECT(2., 202., 2, -5)	
6659	1.1	CALL	VECT(1230., E.)	
	C			
8227		CALL	APNT(50., 552., 2, 5)	
0258		CALL	VECT(200., 0.)	
6653		CALL	VECT(0., 220.)	
6636		CALL	VECT(-202., 2.)	
2231		CALL	VECT(2., -202.)	
2232		CALL	VECT(0., 100., 0, -3)	
8033		CALL	VECT(220., 0.)	
2834		CALL	VECT(-122., 102., 2, -3)	
2235		CALL	VECT(2., -220.)	
1.00	C			

- 54 -

FCRTR	AN IV	V21C-23A TUE 28-NOV-78 20:22:02
	C	WINDOW SUBPICTURE
22.36		CALL SUBF(122)
2037		CALL APNT(10., 125.)
0.238		CALL FIGR(WINCOW, 2, 0, -6)
0239		CALL VECT(2 422.)
0212		CALL FICR(SIZE, 2, Z, -6)
2211		
2012		CALL ADDT $(0, 225.)$
0043		CALL FIGR(YCROSS, 2, R, -6)
2244		CALL SUBP(121)
2045		CALL VECT(20 3.)
2946		CALL VECT(-10., -12., 26)
2247		(ALL VECT(0., 20.)
0748		CALL ESUB
2049		(ALL APNT(2 425.)
2252		CALL FIGR(XCROSS, 2, 2, -6)
2251		CALL SUBP(182,121)
2052		CALL ESUB
2253		CALL CFF(188)
	C	~ Michigan
	C	PUT READOUT DATA ON SCREEN
	C	
2254		CALL APNT(322., 782., 2, -5)
2255		CALL TEXT('T=')
2256		CALL NMBR(112, ITLIND, '16')
0257		CALL APNT(300., 675., 0, -5)
0058		CALL TEXT('X=')
2259		CALL NMBR(111, XWINC, 'F6.3')
2800		CALL APNT(300., 652., 3, -5)
2061		CALL TEXT('Y=')
56.95		CALL NMBR(112, YWIND, 'F6.3')
	C	
	6	DUMMY SUBPICTURES FOR DATA CURVES
0347		00 43 1-02 00
2000		UU 1/3 J=92,92
2004		CALL SUBPLIT
28.00	10	LALL ESUE
		1417 FOD A NEW COMMON
		WAIT FUR A NEW CUPANU
0044		CALL CONTROL 13. NATE
2247	46	CALL LUMANU(VERD) 12) MAILAJ
6601		60 TO TEED 2703 SEED 4003 SEED SEED TEED TEED TEED
	C	S TOODS TINDS TEEDS FAILE
	C	TOTOL S DIGITIZE ADD CHARNELS 2 (HUN) & 2 (VERI)
		CET UD AND ACOUTOE DATA
0010	100	SET UP AND ALGUINE VATA.
2040	102	CALL STETS(1, 257, 1VV, ACATA, 2, 5, 1)
0070	1.35	
2072	165	
cerc	C	CALL TERF
	C	CONVERT DATA FORMAT
		CONTENT OFTA FUNDA

- 55 -

```
A-3
 FORTRAN IV VOIC-234
                            TUE 28-NOV-78 22:02:02
 2273
             00 110 J=1, 2*NPAIR
 2074
        112 IXY(J) = (IXY(J) - 2248) * 12
       C ...
       C ...
              ERASE OLD SUBPICTURES.
 2875
         115 DO 128 J=90,92
 2876
         120 CALL ERAS(J)
 2877
              CALL CMPRS
 2278
              CALL SUBP(92)
 2279
              CALL ESUB
       C ...
              PLOT X VS. T
       C ...
 2000
         125 IYOLC = 0
 8631
              CALL SUBP(91)
 2895
              CALL AFNT(9., 425., 2, 5)
 2283
             CO 130 J=1,1202
 2084
              ISUB = IFIX(FLOAT(J) * FACT) + 2 - 1
 2285
             IY = NROUND(FLOAT(IXY(ISLE)) + 4.882813E-3)
 2236
             CALL VECT(1., FLCAT(IY - IYOLD))
         138 IYOLD = IY
 8887
 2200
             CALL ESUE
       C ...
             PLOT Y VS. T
       C ...
 2289
             1YOLD = 2
2892
             CALL SUBP(92)
22.91
             CALL APNT(9., 225., ., 5)
2292
             DC 142 J=1,1202
2293
             ISUB = IFIX(FLOAT(J) * FACT) * 2
2894
             IY = NROUND(FLOAT(IXY(ISUE)) * 4.052813F-3)
2895
             CALL VECT(1., FLCAT(IY - IYOLD))
2296
        140 IYOLD = IY
2297
             CALL ESUB
0098
             GO TO 92
       C ...
           "WIND", DISPLAY & 228 POINT WINDOW, AND PLOT - VS. Y DATA
       C ...
       C ...
2099
        220 CALL ON(100)
            PUT KEYBOARD IN SPECIAL MODE
      C ...
2120
             J = KEYBRD(2)
2121
             TYPE 225
2122
        205 FORMATC'S ENTER KCR> TO DISPLAY X-Y DATA. ...
2123
             K = FLOAT(NUM) / FACT
2124
        212 CALL STRIS(3, 12, L, 1, 1, 0, 1)
2125
             CALL TERM
8126
             ITWIND = MINC(1 + L / 4, 1228 - K)
2127
            MID = ITWIND + K / 2 - 1
2120
            MID1 = FLOAT(MID) * FACT
2109
            XWIND = FLOAT(IXY(MIC1 + 2 - 1)) + 2.:8251:2-5
2112
            YWIND = FLCATCIXY(MID1 + 2)) + 4.892813E-5
2111
            CALL NMER(112, MID1, 1161)
2112
            CALL NHBR(111, XWIND, 'F6.3')
2113
            CALL NMBR(112, YWIND, 1F6.31)
            CALL APUTCEINDON(1),FLCAT(ITHIND))
2114
                                                   OCC MONCONSUL
0115
            CALL APUT(XCROSS(1), FLOAT(MID))
2116
            CALL APUT(XCROSS(2), XHINC * 122.)
```

		A-4
FCRTR	AN IV	V210-83A TUE 28-NOV-78 22:02:02
		CALL ADUT/ MCDOSC(1), (10AT(MIC))
0117		
6118		CALL AUTOTORUSS(2), THING & TO2.7
	C	
	C	CHECK FOR KCR>
2119		IF(KEYBRD(1)+E0+2) 80 10 218
	C	
	C	FLOT X-Y DATA
2121	222	CALL ERAS(92)
2122		CALL CMPRS
2123		CALL SUBF(93)
2124		CALL APNT(152., 658., 2, -5)
0125		JJ = IFIX(FLOAT(ITWINC) * FACT) * 2 - 1
2126		CALL DRAW(TXY(JJ), NUM, 162.)
2127		CALL ESUB
2128		CALL DEF(198)
0129		
	C	
	C 1	TA I. STANDATE ANY CESSET IN THE X & Y CATA
2132	330	11 - 151Y(51 CAT(1141ND) + 54CT) = 2 - 1
0130	200	V = 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1
2172		
2422	325	
0133	263	
2176	74.0	AREAN - AREAN & DELECTION INTO A AND
0132	210	THEAR - THEAR & DELECTEDATORY OF AN AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND AND
6130		INT = THEAN / FLOATING /
6137		ITM = THEAN / FLUATION (10)
0133		CO 320 J=1,2*NPAIR,2
6139		1x+(J) = 1x+(J) - 1x*
6146	320	1xy(3+1) = 1xy(3+1) - 1yy
2141		60 10 115
	C	
	C	NOT IMPLEMENTED YET
	C	
2142	420	CONTINUE
2143		GC TC 90
	C	
	C	SAVE', STORE THE DIGITIZED DATA IN A DISK DATA FILE
	C	
0144	520	J = NTYPE
0145		IF (J .LE. 2 .OR. J .GT. 2) GO TO 92
	C	
0147		CALL ATTCUT(2, J, Ø, IDUM)
	C	
P148		CALL DATE(IDATE)
2149		ENCODE(22. 552. 11113) 10414
0150	55.2	ECRMAT(IDIGITIZEC 1. 542)
0151	330	
0100		ANTIC (C) ITTTLIES ITTLES NUM
2152		JJ = IFIACELUAICLIMINUS # FACIS # 2 = 1
0153		$\mathbf{W} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{E} \left(\mathbf{E} \mathbf{F} \left(\mathbf{I} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{F} \left(\mathbf{J} \right) \mathbf{F} \right) = \mathbf{J} \mathbf{J} \mathbf{F} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{U} \mathbf{M} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{F}$
2154		CALL CLOSE(2)
2155		60 10 90
	C	
	C	SIZE', LIST OUT DISPLAY BUFFER SIZE

FORTR	AN IV	V210-03A	TUE 28	-NOV-78 20:0	12:22
	c				
0156	620 0	CALL DPTR(J)			
0157	1	TYPE 605.1			
2158	605 F	COPMAT(1 DISP	AV DUFF	FR S17F = 1.	14)
0150	005 1	CO TO DA	LAT COTT	LN SILL - ,	107
0137	6	50 10 70			
					NATION .
	C !	TITL', ENTER	UATA SET	TILE INFOR	MATION
6105	166 0	CALL TITLECIT	ITL1)		
2161	C	CALL TITLE(IT	ITL2)		
0162	G	GO TO 90			
	C				
	C	'STD ', C	HANGE MO	DE TO STORE	ZETEC STANDARD DATA
	C				
2163	802 N	NTYPE = 1			
0164	N	NUM = 602			
2165	G	GO TO 910			
	C				
	C	'DAT '. C	HANGE MO	DE TO STORE	TUPE SUPPORT DATA
	C				
2166	904 N	NTYPE = 2			
0167	NOL N	NUM = 1320			
2168	010 N	NIM2 = 2 + NU	M		
0160	712 1	CALL ADUTICTT	E(1) . EL		• •
0107		CALL APUILDIE		UNICAUMITERC	.,
0170	1226 6	60 10 92			
6171	TEER C	CUNTINUE			
2172	1100 0	CONTINUE			
	C				
	C 'E	EXIT', TERMIN	ATE THE	DISPLAY AND	EXIT
	C				
2173	1222 C	CALL FREE			2
2174	c	CALL SCROL(32	, 744)		SIMD.
2175	C	CALL EXIT			allis
2176	E	END			CIMP
					allow
					Clotha
					alle
				6	
				all	
				~((11))	0
				(0)(0)	
				11-	
				v	

A-5

- 58 -

				A-6	
FORTR	AN IV	ve	1C-23A		
8281	·	PROGRA	M BNL3		
		PROCEA	M TO SUBT	ACT THE SUPPORT D	474
	C	PATTER	NS FROM S	TEAM GENERATOR TUBE	ATAC
	C				시작 전 이 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 많을 것 같이 없다.
	C	PROGRA	MMED SEPT	1978.	
	C	CHIP W	ILSON 8	DONALD HAYFORD	
	C	BATTEL	LE COLUMBI	US LABORATCRIES	
	C				
	C	SPONSO	RED BY BR	DOKHAVEN NATIONAL L	ABORATORY
	C		and and a		
6662		DIMENS	ION IDATC	2000,3), 1015F(4756) VERB(15) LABELS(11) 4) 4)
		2	SCLFLI(4)	XRNG(2), XSEG(2),	TRUCCED TELEPSCOD TELEPSCOD
2023			ALIN(4)	NUM3/3447/. 101100	. 101 100/3+1. 3+1.22/
2021		DATA	ESE/ICETS	. ICETOL. ICCETEL.	ISTI I. ISTA I. ISTAFI
		3	1)	AG IN ISHETIN THEP	YI, TEXP I, TALINI, ICLIPI,
		5	3	· 'EXIT'/	
2225		DATA L	ABELS/176	* "22240/, IDAT/63	15 * 21
2026		DATA S	CLFCT/1.,	0., 0., 1./, KELAG	121
2207		DATA S	TD. DAT/ !!	STD', 'DAT'/, IBEG,	IRNG/1. 51/
6003		CALL S	TVCTR		
	C				
	C	SET UP	DISPLAY	TERMINAL	10.
2209		CALL I	NITCIDISP	4750)	MANDER
2210	C	LALL S			OB MONIFILMUEUS
	C			DUEFED	BCAR IIINUUUU
2211		CALL R	STRUBNI 3		
	C			• •	0
	C	WALT F	OR A NEW	COMMAND .	
2212	92	CALL C	OMANDEVER	3,15, MA TCH)	
2013		GC TC	(100, 200.	320, 420, 502, 62	7, 720, 821, 922,
		\$	1000,	1100, 1202, 1302,	1420, 1520) , MATCH
	C				
	C	• • • 6	ETS' , IN	PUT A .STD DATA FIL	•
	C	• • • • •	ETD' , IN	PUT A .DAT DATA FIL	E•
0041	1.20	OTVOC			
0015	100	NENTRY	- 310		
0016		GO TO	205		
2017	20.0	DIVPE	= DAT		
2018		NENTRY	= 2		
2219	203	CALL A	SKPICC IP	10)	
0220		CALL A	TTINCZ N	ENTRY, 2, IFILE)	
2021		READ (2) ((LABE	LS(JJ, J, IPIC), JJ	=1,10), J=1,3), NUM
2022		NUM2 =	NUM + 2		
2223		READ (2) (IDAT(J. IPIC), J=1,NUM2)	
2024		CALL C	LOSE(2)		
	C				
0225		ENCODE	(28, 258,	LABELS(1, 4, IPIC)) NUM, DTYPE, IFILE
2226	222	FORMAT	(14, ' PA	IRS, ', A3, ' E', 14)
	C				
	C	DISPLA	NO ATAC Y	SCREEN.	

- 59 -

FCRTRAN IV V010-03A 2227 212 CALL ERAS(12 * IFIC) CALL CMPRS 2228 CALL SUBP(12 * IFIC) 0229 CALL APAT(FLOAT(IPIC*342 - 170), 510.) 0232 2231 CALL SUBP(40+IPIC, 44) CALL DRAW(IDAT(1, IPIC), NUM, 158.) 2232 2233 CALL RODT(-122., 234., 2, -5) C . . C . . PUT LABELS ABOVE DATA PLOTS. DC 252 J=1+4 POOR ORIGINALL 2834 2235 LABELS(11, J, IPIC) = & CALL TEXT(LABELS(1, J, IFIC)) 2236 252 CALL ROOT(-240., -24., 0, -5) 2237 CALL ROOT(120., -138., 2, -5) 2238 2239 CALL SUBP(65+IPIC, 60+IPIC) 2242 CALL ESUB C .. C ... INITIALIZE CLIP LIMITS. 2241 ICLIFE(IPIC) = 12242 ICLIPR(IPIC) = NUM - 1 2243 CALL NMBR(50+1PIC, 1, 161) CALL NMBR(53+IPIC, NUM-1, 161) 2244 2245 GC TO 92 C ... C 'GGETF' , READ IN A SCALING FACTORS FILE. C ... 2846 300 CALL ATTIN(2, 3, 0, IDUM) 28.47 READ (2) ((LABELS(JJ, J, 4), JJ=1,12), J=1,3), SCLFCT(J) 2248 CALL CLOSE(2) 2249 TYPE 332, ((LABELS(JJ, J, 4), JJ=1,12), J=1,3), SCLFCT(J) 2252 332 FORMAT(3(1x, 10A2/), 1x, 4F8.4) 6251 GO TO 92 C ... 'SCL' , USE SCALING FACTORS READ IN BY 'GGETF'. C C ... 2252 422 CALL ASKPIC(IPIC) 2253 DO 442 J=1,NUM2-1,2 0254 ITEMP = NROUND(SCLFCT(1) * FLOAT(ICAT(J, IPIC)) + SCLFCT(2) * FLOAT(IDAT(J+1, IPIC))) \$ 2855 IDAT(J+1, IPIC) = NROUND(SCLFCT(3) * FLOAT(IDAT(J, IPIC)) + SCLFCT(4) * FLGAT(IDAT(J+1, IPIC))) \$ 2256 440 IDAT(J, IPIC) = ITEMP C ... C ... PUT NEW CATA ON SCREEN 2257 GO TO 210 C ... ISUB ', SUBTRACT PICTURE 1 FROM PICTURE 2. C C ... 2258 500 00 520 J=1.NUM2 0259 522 IDAT(J, 3) = IDAT(J, 2) - IDAT(J, 1)8263 IPIC = 3C ... TITLE NEW PICTURE. C ... 00 550 J=1, 4 2261

A-7

		A-8
FORTRA	N IV	V21C-23A
		같은 것은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같
0062		50 550 JJ=1, 10
6203	556	LABELS(JJ) J J S) = "20x4x"
2664		ENCODE(20, 555, LABELS(1, 2, 3))
0265	555	FORMATC' PIC 2 MINUS PIC 1 ')
	C	
	C	PUT NEW DATA ON SCREEN.
0266		GO TO 210
	C	
	C	SIZE', LIST OUT DISPLAY SUFFER SIZE
	C •	
2267	620	CALL DPTR(J)
0168		TYPE 605.J
0069	665	FORMAT(' DISPLAY BUFFER SIZE =', 16)
2070		GO TO 90
	C	MAG ', MAGNIFY ONE PICTURE TO FILL THE SUREEN
2271	780	CALL ASKPIC(IPIC)
	C	
	C	TURN OFF PRESENT DISPLAY AND MOVE THE SCRULLER.
8272		DO 712 J=12, 40, 12
2873	712	CALL OFF(J)
2074		CALL SCROL(2,40)
	C	
1.2.2.1	C	PUT DATA ON SCREEN
6275		CALL ERAS(100)
2276		CALL CMPRS
2277		CALL SUBP(102)
2078		CALL SUBP(151, 158)
0279		CALL DRAW(IDAT(ICLIPB(IPIC)*2-1, IPIC), ICLIPR(IPIC), 352.)
0080		CALL ESUB
	C	
	C	WAIT FOR A (CR)
6681		PAUSE
	C	
	C	RETURN TO THE REGULAR DISPLAY
2682		CALL OPTR(J)
0083		TYPE 625, J
2284		CALL OFF(122)
0285		DC 772 J=12, 42, 10
6286	772	CALL ON(J)
2087		CALL SCROL(13,288)
2288		TYPE 715
2089	715	FORMAT(SDO YOU WANT A HARD COPY (Y/N) ? ')
2290		ACCEPT 720, J
0091	720	FORMAT(A1)
2292		IF((J +ANC+ "177) +NE+ "131) 60 TO 90
8894		IPIC = 10
2295		GO TO 905
	C	· 영영 영영 영영 · 영양 · 영양 · 영양 · 영양 · 영양 · 영
	C	SHFT', TIME SHIFT TO ALIGN PICTURE 2 WITH PICTURE 1.
	C	
8896	800	TYPE 821
2297	821	FORMAT(SENTER SHIFT DISTANCE: 1)

```
V210-234
FORTRAN IV
             IPIC = 2
2898
            READ(5, 822, ERR=820)DSHFT
2299
        822 FORMAT(F12.2)
2122
            ISHFT = NROUND(DSHFT)
2121
             IF(IABS(ISHFT) .GT. NUM/2) SC TO 800
0102
            P = DSHFT - FLOAT(ISHFT)
2124
             IF (ABS(P) .LT. . 021) 60 TO 824
2125
            P2 = P * P
2107
            00 803 1 = 1,2
2128
            TEMP1 = FLOAT(IDAT(I,2))
2129
            DC 823 J=1+2,NUM2-2,2
2112
            TEMP2 = FLOAT(IDAT(J,2))
2111
             E = (FLOAT(IDAT(J+2,2)) - TEMP1) / 2.
2112
             F = E - TEMP2 + TEMP1
2113
            IDAT(J+2) = NROUND(TEMP2 + E + F + F + P2)
2114
0115
        823 TEMP1 = TEMP2
        804 12 = 2 * ISHFT
2116
             IF (12) 832, 92, 810
0117
      C ..
            SHFT TO THE RIGHT (ISHFT POS.)
      C ...
        810 ITOP = NUM2 - 12
2118
             IDAT(NUM2, 2) = IDAT(ITOF, 2)
2119
8122
             DO 820 J=1, ITOP-1
        820 IDAT(NUM2-J, 2) = IDAT(ITOP-J, 2)
0121
      C ...
             FILL THE BEGINNING OF THE ARRAY WITH THE FIRST POINT
      C ...
2122
             DO 825 J=3,12-1,2
             IDAT(J, 2) = IDAT(1, 2)
0123
        825 \text{ IDAT(J+1, 2)} = \text{IDAT(2, 2)}
0124
0125
             GO TO 212
      C ...
      C.. SHIFT TO THE LEFT (ISHFT NEG.).
        832 CO 842 J=1,NUM2+12
2126
        842 ICAT(J, 2) = IDAT(J-12, 2)
8127
             I = NUM - 1
0128
      C ...
             FILL THE END OF THE ARRAY WITH THE LAST POINT
      C ...
8129
             DO 845 J=NUM2+12+1,NUM2-3,2
2132
             IDAT(J, 2) = IDAT(I, 2)
        845 IDAT(J+1, 2) = IDAT(NUM2, 2)
0131
0132
             GO TO 212
      6..
                 HCPY . PLOT A HARD CCPY ON THE X-Y PLOTTER.
      C ....
       C ...
        920 CALL ASKPIC(IPIC)
2133
         925 IF (KFLAG .NE. 2)60 TO 952
0134
             CALL INITXY (KFLAG, 2048, 1336)
0136
         950 CALL HCPY(IDISP, 12*IPIC)
0137
             GO TO 90
0138
       C ...
                IEXP I
       C ....
       C ...
       1000 CALL ASKPIC(IPIC)
2139
            TYPE 1021
2142
```

A-9

FORTRAN IV	V21C-23A
2141 1221	FORMAT('SENTER SCALE FACTOR: ')
2142	ACCEPT 1002, F
2143 1222	FORMAT(F12+2)
2144	00 1003 J=1, NUM2
2145	RIDAT = FLOAT(IDAT(J, IPIC)) * F
2146	IF(ABS(RIDAT) \bullet GT. 2 \bullet E4) RIDAT = SIGN(2 \bullet E4, RIDAT)
2148 1223	IDAT(J, IPIC) = RIDAT
2149	GO TO 212
C	
C	• 'ALIN', ALIGN YZ WITH YI.
0153 1103	00 11 1 1-12 32 10
2150 1100	
C151 1121	CALL UFF(J)
Č	CREATE VERTICAL BAR AND READOUTS.
0152	CALL SUBDITION
0153	CALL SUBFRIDE 362. J6)
2154	A(IN(2) = 2.5)
0155	$ALIN(1) = 2 \cdot 2$
2156	CALL FIGR(ALIN, 2, 0, -5)
0157	CALL VECT(2., 422.)
8153	CALL APNT(0., 336., 2, -5)
2159	CALL NMBR(111, 2., "110")
2162	CALL NMBR(112, 2., 1F12.31)
0161	CALL ROOT(152., 0., 1, -6)
2162	CALL SUBP(113)
2163	CALL TEXT('MAG')
2164	CALL ESUB
2165	CALL RDOT(52., 2., 1, -4)
2166	CALL SUBP(114)
2167	CALL TEXT('END')
2103	CALL ESUB
2169	CALL APNT(2., 560., -1, -4)
2173	CALL VECT(1000., 0.)
2171	CALL FSUB
2172	161 = 1
2173	IR1 = NUP - 1
8174	162 = 1
0175	IR2 = NUM - 1
2176	DINC = 2.
2177	INCSUP = 2
8175	OLDSH = 2.
C	
	PLUT VI VS. TIME AND V2 VS. TIME.
2179 1142	CALL ERAS(102)
2182	CALL CUPPES
0101	CALL SUBPLIERS
0102	$1100 = 1041(2 \times 181) + 177 + 186$
2103	CALL APRILOS FLUATION + ITULUIS VS -51
0104	
0105	T = JURT(J) + J = JURT(J) = JURT(J)
21+7 1152	TVOLD - TV
6157 1156	11000 - 11

A-10

		A-II
FORTR	AN IV	V21C-23A
0168		IYOLD = ICAT(2*182, 2) / 100
2189		CALL APNT(2., 560. + FLOAT(IYCLD), E, -4)
2192		ALIN(3) = 0.0
2191		ALIN(4) = $2 \cdot 2$
0192		CALL FIGR(ALIN(3), 2, 2, -5)
2193		00 1140 J=2=182. (182+182)+2.INCSUE+2
0194		$I_{Y} = I_{2} I_{1} I_{1} I_{2} I_$
2195		(A + A + A + A + A + A + A + A + A + A +
0106	1161	
0197	1100	
2108	1172	CALL CTOTS (3, 17, TAPC, 1, 2, 9, 1)
0100	11110	
2233		$T_{V} = P_{V} + P_{V$
0201		$\mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T} = \mathbf{T} + $
0232		1 SHE = FRANC-477 = 1 SHE COLOUR - COMONANT 47777
2227		
2265	C	CALL APUTCALIN(S)) FLCA (ISHFI))
0.00.		CUET - OLOGU - FLORET - LECCUENCENC
6264		SHET = ULDSH + FLUATCISHET * INCSUBJULING
1200		LALL NMBR(112) SHF1) F12.37
0220		II = IET + NROUND(FLOAT(IVERT * INCSCE) / DINC)
2201		CALL NMERCITT, 11, 110.)
	(
6603		CALL LPEN(M) ITAG)
6204		IF (M +EQ + 2) GO TO 1170
2211		IFCITAG .EQ. 113) SO TO 1180
2213		IF(ITAG •NE• 114) GC TO 1172
	C	. 2017 1917 1917 1917 1917 1917 1917 1917 1
	C	END ALIGN COMMAND
2215		CALL ERAS(110)
2216		CALL OFF(102)
2217		CALL CMPRS
0218		DO 1175 J=10,30,10
2219	1175	CALL ON(J)
8558		TYPE 1176, SHFT
2221	1176	FORMAT(' SHIFT VALUE: ', F12.4)
0222		GO TO 90
	C	
	C	MAGNIFY DATA PAST VERTICAL BAR.
2223	1182	IR1 = IR1 / 2
8224		182 = MIN2(MAX2(1,182+NRCUND(FLOAT((IVERT-ISHFT)*INCSUE)/UINC)),
		5 NUM-1)
2225		IR2 = MINE(IR1, NUM-IE2)
2226		161 = 11
2227		SINC = DINC / FLOAT(INCSUE) * 2.
0228		
0220		CLOSE - NECHEOLOGETY
2273		
2230	~	60 10 1140
	6	
		CLIP'S CLIP LEADING AND TRAILING EDGES OF PICTURES.
	C	
2231	1222	CALL ASKPIC(IPIC)
6535		J = KEYBRD(3)
8233		TYPE 1222
0234	1222	FORMAT('SENTER (CR) TO CONTINUE')
```
FORTRAN IV VOIC-03A
       1221 IF (KEYBRD(1) .NE. 2) 60 TO 92
0235
            CALL STRTS(3, 12, 140C, 1, 2, 2, 1)
2237
2238
            CALL TERM
            IBEG = MIN2(IADC(1) / 4 + 1, NUM - 1)
2239
            IEND = MINJ(IADC(2) / 4 + 1, NUM-ISEG) + 13EG
2240
            CALL NMBR(50+1PIC, IBEG, 16")
0241
            CALL NMBR(53+IPIC, IEND-IBEG, '16')
2242
2243
            ICLIPB(IPIC) = IBEG
2244
            ICLIFR(IPIC) = IEND - IREG
      C ...
            CALL GETTAG(IDISP, 10+1PIC, MACOR)
2245
      C ...
            SEARCH FOR FIRST VECT OR LVECT MODE WORD.
      C ...
2246
            DC 1205 J=1,1202
            ITEMP = IPEEK(MACCR) .AND. "174002
0247
             IFCITEMP .EC. "104202 .CR. ITEMP .EC. "112000) GC TO 1210
2248
2252
       1205 MADDR = MADDR + 2
      C ...
       1218 ITEMF = IPEEK(MADDR)
2251
2252
            IF(ITEMP .GE. 2) 60 TO 1240
            ITEMP = (ITEMP .AND. "74020) / "4202
2254
            IF(ITEMP .LE. 3 .OR. ITEMP .GI. 2) GC TO 1221
0255
2257
            INC = ITEMP * 2
            GC TO 1270
2258
      C ...
2259
       1242 IBEG = 18EG - 1
             IEND = IEND - 1
2262
             IF(IBEG .LE. 2) GO TC 1262
2261
      1250 J = IPOKE(MADDR, IPEEK(MADDR) .AND. #137777)
0263
            GO TO 1272
2264
      1260 IF(IEND .LE. 2) GC TO 1250
2265
             J = IPOKE(MADER, IFEEK(MADDR) .OR. #40202)
2267
2260
       1272 MACOR = MADDR + INC
2269
            GO TO 1210
      C ...
      C ...
            NOT PROGRAMMED YET
      C ...
2270
       1320 CONTINUE
2271
       1422 CONTINUE
      C ...
                 'EXIT'
      C ....
      C ...
       1500 CALL SCROL(32, 744)
2272
             IF(KFLAG .NE. 3) CALL ENCXY
0273
            CALL FREE
0275
2276
            CALL EXIT
8277
            END
```

FORTR	AN IV	V01C-03A
2201		SUBROUTINE ASKPIC(N)
	C	
	C	THIS ROUTINE PROMPTS THE OPERATOR FOR A PICTURE NUMBER.
	C	
	C	A RESPONSE OTHER THAN 1, 2, OR 3 IS INVALID.
	C	
22222	5	TYPE 10
2223	12	FORMAT('SPICTURE D: ')
2824	22	READ(5, 32, ERR = 5) N
2225	32	FCRMAT(112)
2220		IF(N .LE. & .OR. N .GT. 3) 60 TO 5
88933		RETURN
2829		END

		A-14
FORTR	AN IV	V010-034 TUE 28-NOV-78 22:24:11
		승규는 사람은 감독한 것을 가야 한다. 이번 방법에 관계하는 것을 가지 않는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 가지 않는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 말 하는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이렇게 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있다. 이 같이 않는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있다. 이 같이 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 수 있는 것을 것을 것 같이 않는 것을 것을 것을 것을 것을 것을 것 같이 않는 것을 것 않는 것을 것 않는 것을 것 않는 것을 것 같이 않는 것 않는 것 같이 않는 것 않는 것 같이 않는 것 않는 것 않는 것 않는 것 않는 것 같이 않는 것 않는 것 않는 것 같이 않는 것 않는
2221		PROGRAM BNL3D
	C	
	C	PROGRAM TO GENERATE A DISPLAY BUFFER TO BE USED BY
	C	PROGRAM BNL3.
	C	같은 그 옷에 들어야 한 것을 잘 들어야 하는 것이 아버지는 것이 많이 나라.
	C	PROGRAMMED SEPT 1978.
	C	CHIP WILSON & DONALD HAYFORD
	L	BATTELLE COLUMBUS LABORATORIES
		SPONSORED BY EDOCULIAVEN NATIONAL LACCONTONY
	C	SPONSORED ST EROCKHAVEN NATIONAL LACCRATORT
0202		DIMENSION INTSP(502)
1003		CALL INIT(IDISP.500)
	C	CALL INTICIDIO DICE
8284		CALL SUBP(95)
2235		CALL ESUB
	C	
2226		CALL SUBP(44)
2287		CALL BOX(150.)
6593		CALL ESUE
2592		CALL OFF(44)
	C	
224.2	C	GENERATE NULL SUBPICTURES FOR PLOTS 1, 2, 8 3.
2210		DO 10 J=1,5
2011		CALL SUBPLUE (1 + 10) - 1775 - 513 S
2012		CALL APRICELUPICUPICUPICUPICUPICUPICUPICUPICUPICUPIC
0011	12	
	C	
	C	CREATE CLIP READOUT SUBPICTURES.
2215		D0 22 J=1,3
0216		CALL SUBP(60+J)
2217		CALL RDOT(-84., -182., 0, -5)
8195		CALL NMBR(50+J, 1, 16')
2019		CALL NMBR(53+J, NUM)
8828		CALL ESUB
8021	20	CALL OFF(60+J)
	C	
	C	GENERATE DASHED LINE ABOVE SCROLLED.
0222		CALL SUBP(42)
2653		CALL APNT(2., 321., 2, -5)
2224		CALL VECT(1223., 2., 2, 2, 2, 2)
0025		CALL RDCT(0., 0., 0, -5, 2, 1)
6620		CALL ESUB
		COCATE A LADOR ON
0227		CALL SUDDIAST
0029		CALL SUBPLIER / 15.)
2020		
2232		
2031		CALL DEE(153)
2051	C	
	C	SAVE DISPLAY BUFFER ON DISK.
2032		CALL SAVE('BNL 3D')

FORTRAN	IV	V210-03A	TUE	28-NOV-78	22:04:11

	C		
0233		CALL	EXIT
2834		END	

FORTR	AN IV	V010-03A TUE 28-NOV-78 20:01:15
	C	
	C	BNLSUR.FOR
	C	
	C	PROGRAMMED BY CHIP WILSON
	C	BATTELLE COLUMBUS LABORATORIES
	C	
6561		SUBROUTINE ATTIN(LUN, NENTRY, IFLAG, 10PEN)
	C	
	C	THIS SUBROUTINE ATTACHES A FILE FOR INPUT BY
	C	CHECKING THE FILE NAME DIRECTORY FOR THE FILLNAME
		AND DEFAULT SEQUENCE NUMBER + ETTHER THE DEFAULT
		NILL BE USED OR THE OPERATOR WILL BE PROFFICE FOR
	C	ONE.
	C	INPUT PARAMETERS:
	C	In of the end of
	C	LUN LOGICAL UNIT NUMBER TO BE USED FOR
	C	THE FILE TO BE ATTACHED.
	C	
	C	NENTRY NUMBER FOR THE CIRECTORY ENTRY
	C	TO BE OPENED.
	C	
	C	IFLAG =0 PROMPT CPERATOR FOR SEQUENCE NO.
	C	=-1 USE DEFAULT VALUE
	C	•GT• 2 USE IFLAG AS CURRENT FILE NUMBER
	C	
	C	CUTPUT PARAMETERS
		TUPEN SET EQUAL TO THE SECUENCE NO.
	C	OF THE FILE OFENED.
00.02		LOCICAL +1 STRING(2)
2223		COMMON/FILNAM/ LUNIM. N. STRING. ICHD. INEVI. INV
22.04		LUNUF = LUN
2225		N = NENTRY
	C	
	C	ATTACH THE FILE NAME DIRECTORY.
	C	
2826		CALL DIROPN
0027		I = IFLAG
88893		IF(IFLAG) 100, 35, 57
	C	
	C	USE CURRENT FILE SEQUENCE NUMBER?
	C	
0009	35	TYPE 40, (STRING(I), I=12, 14), ICUR
2012	40	FORMAT('SOPEN ', 3A1, ' FILE I', 13, ' ? ')
0211		READ(5, 30, ERR=35) I
2615	33	FORMAT(112)
0213		IF(I .LT. 2 .OR. 1 .GT. 999) GC TC 35
2215		$IF(I \bullet EO \bullet O) I = ICUR$
2017	52	ICUR = 1
3818		CALL DIRCLO
819		GO TO 150
628	122	CALL CLOSE(LUNUM)

		A-17
FORTR	AN IV	V010-034 TUE 28-NOV-78 22:21:15
	c	
	C	OPEN THE FILE.
	C	
2821	150	IF(IFLAG .NE. 2) TYPE 62, (STRING(1),1=12,14), ICUR
0223	62	FORMAT(1 1, JA1, 1 FILE S1, 13, 1 CPENED.1)
2224		CALL ASSIGN(LUNUM, STRING, 14, 'GLD')
8825		IOPEN = ICUR
0026		RETURN
0227		END

																				4	4-	18	3																			
FORT	RAN IV					۷	12	1	c	- 2	3	A			T	U	E	2	8	- 1	NC	v	-	7	8		2	: 2	1	:	17	7										
2021			s	116	20	0		т		E						т.			N			F		т:	. v			F				í	T	N	=							
	C		~	~ `	-			1	•			2	1			1				'	1		14	1.0		'			-	~ 1			*	LA.	-	•	٢.,					
	C			T e	41	S		S	u	BR	0	U	T	I N	E	1	4.1	т	4	c٠	4 E	S		4	F	11	:		F	0.6	2	c	12	т	FI							
	C		в	Y	C	H	E	C	K	IN	G	Ĩ	T	HE		F	L	E	-	NI	M	E		51	Ř	÷		r c	R	Y	F	0	R	h	71							
	C		F	IL	E	N	A	-	E		N	D	1	TH	E	,	N E	x	т	1	v	A	I		0	L	Ē	S	E	01	1E	N	C	F	1							
	C		N	UP	18	E	R	;	٦,	TH	E	4	,	E	I	TH	÷E	R		τ.	ŧE		2	FF	4	UI.	1	ĩ	N		15	F	R		6.	Ľ.	÷					
	C		B	Ē	U	IS	E	D	(CR		T	H E	1	ò	PE	9	4	TI	0 A	1		I	LI	1	3	E	P	R	C I		T	E	C		- 0	2					
	C		C	NE	Ξ.																						1					1			1	-						
	C																																									
	C		I	NF	>U	T	:																																			
	C																																									
	C		LI	UN	٤.,	-	-	1	_ (G	1	C	AL		U	NI	T		NI	UN	8	Ē	R	F	C	ñ	1	H	Ε	F	1	L	Ε									
	C							T	0	9	ε	1	AT	T	A	CH	łĒ	C	•																							
	C																																									
	C		NI	EN	IT.	R	Y			•	T	H	E	0	I	RE	C	T	0	RY		T	0	8	É.	(0 P	E	N	FC												
	C																																									
			11	F L	. *	G	6		۰.	-	0		P	R	01	M F	T		CR	P c	٩	A	T	OR		F	R		Si	EC			N	0	•							
			~			-		4			٦		Ļ	IS	E	N	E	×	T	A	Y	A	IL	- 4	8	LE		S	EI	C .	6	N	0	•								
		•	6		-	8		. 1	13	E		11	L	A .	G	A	S	6 I	F	L	E		58	EC	•	-	v C															
			U	21	-	0		*																																		
										-					~	۰.		-																								
	C			NE					5		0	AL	•	1	0	1	H	t		5 2	Q	UI	= 1		E	1	N O	•	(F	Ц	- 1	E	C	0	4	NE	0	•	
0000				10		~					•				~		2																									
2223			ci		-	in a	N	10			2			~	6			2																								
2824			11	N		M		=	1	i	N	~ '	1			UN	10	7	'	. "	'		2 1	R		~ "	, ,		11	- (R	,		1	12	. *	2	,	1	A	۷	
0005			N			N	F	N 1	R	Y	1																															
	C						-																																			
	C		A 1	Т		C	н	1	H	E	1	F]	LL.	F	1	NA	N	ñ	1		9	=	• •	10		× .																
	C					Ĩ		ť,		-								-	1	•••		- 1																				
8836			C.	L	L		D	16	10	P	N																															
0207			I	=		1	FI		G																																	
8833			IF	(1	F	LI	AG	;)		1	02	.,		3	5,		5	2																							
	C																																									
	C	1	US	E		N	E)	(1	1	S	E	21	JE	N	CE		N	U	Mê	E	R	?																				
	C																																									
2009	35		11	P	Ε		44	٠,		(S	TR	I	N	GI	11)	,	1	=	1	2	,	1	4),	6	I	NE	X	T											
2012	42	1	FC	R	M	A	T		\$	S	A 1	/ E		A	S	•	,		34	1	,			F	11	2	È.,	2	۰,		I	3	,	1		?			3			
6611		5	RE	A	D	(5.		3	3	,	Ε	R	R	= 3	15)	1	I																							
0212	30	F	FC	R	M		T	1	1	2)																															
2213			IF	(I		• 1	. 1	•	. 1	2		٠	0	R.			I		G	T	•	9	9	9)	G	0	1	10		3	5									
2015	58		IC	U	R		=	I																																		
2216			IF	((I		N	E	٠	Ŕ	1)		•	AN	ND.	٠	1	(]	l.,	•	Né	•		11	VE	X	T)))	G	0	1	10	3	1	5	2				
	C																																									
	C	ι	S	E	1	N	EX	(]		A		I	٢	A	BL	E		S		U	E	NC	: 5		N;	M	9	EF	2.													
	C				Ľ			١.																																		
2618	100		I C	U	R	1	=	I	N	E	X 1																															
0019		1	IN	E	X	T	-		I	Ni	EX	T		*	1																											
0020	152		F	(I	FI	. 4	G		•	NE	•		2)	T	Y	PE		5	ĩ	,	(S	Ti	21	N	G	(])	,		1 =	: 1	12	,	1	4	. (IC	. 5
0022	60	F	C	9	M	A	1('		SI	A 1	E		A	S	•	,		3A	1	,	1		F	il			2	۱,		I	3	,			1	>					
6623		5	A	L	L	1	01	R	C	L	0																															
28.24		0	- A	L	L	1	AS	S	1	C'	10	L	U	N	,	S	T	RI	IN	G	,	1	4	, ,		• 1	E		•)													
0025		1	N	E		1	=	I	C	U	\$																															
0020		R	E F	T	U F	RI	N																																			

- 71 -

A-19 FORTRAN IV VØ1C-03A TUE 28-NOV-78 22:21:17

2027 END

FORTRAN I	V V21C-23A TUE 28-NOV-78 20:01:20
2201	SUBROUTINE DIRCPN
C	
C	THIS SUBROUTINE ATTACHES THE FILE NAME DIRECTORY,
C	LOOKS UP THE REQUESTED ENTRY, AND REPORTS THE
C	CURRENT AND NEXT SEGUENCE NUMEERS.
C	
C	INPUT:
C	
C	LUNUM LOGICAL UNIT YUMBER.
C	
C • •	NENTRY DIRECTORY ENTRY TO BE OPENED.
	0
	001201:
	STOINS ADDAY CONTAINING THE FUE NAME.
	STRING ARRAT CONTAINING THE FILE NAME.
C	TOUR CURRENT SECHENCE NUMPER.
	TOUR CORRENT SECONDE NOPSER.
	INEYT NEYT SECHENCE NUMBER.
	INEXT NEXT SEGULACE ACPOENT
0022	LOGICAL #1 STRING(42) + DUM1(3) + DUM2(3)
C	
2023	COMMON/FILNAM/ LUNUM, NENTRY, STRING, ICUR, INEXT, IAV
C	
2224	EQUIVALENCE (DUM1(1), STRING(2)), (DUM2(1), STRING(16))
C	
C	
C	ATTACH THE FILE NAME DIRECTORY.
C	
2205	CALL ASSIGN(LUNUM, 'ENLBNL DIR', 18)
8806	DEFINE FILE LUNUM(4, 21, U, IAV)
2827	IAV = NENTRY + 1
C	
C	READ IN THE REQUESTED ENTRY.
C	
88833	READ(LUNUM'IAV) STRING
C	
С	DETERMINE CURRENT AND NEXT AVAILABLE SEC. NC.
C	
2239	DECODE (3, 30, DUM1) ICUR
2212	DECODE (3, 30, DUM2) INEXT
2211 32	FORMAT(13)
0012	RETURN
2213	END
	all was
	()))))))) ()))))))))))))))))))))))))))
	1200 -
	D.

FORTR	N IV	V21C-23A TUE 28-NOV-78 20:01:22
2201		SUBROUTINE DIRCLO
	6	
		THIS SUBRUUTINE UPDATES AND CLUSES THE FILE
		NAME DIRECTORT.
		INDUT:
	C	INFOIT
	C	LUNUM LOGICAL UNIT NUMBER.
	C	
	C	NENTRY DIRECTORY ENTRY TO BE UPCATED.
	C	
	C	STRING ARRAY CONTAINING THE FILENAME.
	C	
	C	ICUR CURRENT SECUENCE NUMBER.
	C	
88.95		LOGICALE1 STRING(42), DUM1(3), DUM2(3), DUM3, DUM4
	C	
0033		COMMON/FILNAM/ LUNUM, NENTRY, STRING, ICUR, INEXI, IAV
2024		CONTRACTORE CONNACTOR OTE INCLUSING (DUNDED) AND CTDING(44))
0004	C	EQUIVALENCE (DUMICIU) STRING(SU) (DUP2(1)) STRING(SU)
	C	
	C	ENCODE LOUR AND INEXT INTO STRING
	C	
	C	
2225		DUM3 = STRING(11)
2226		ENCODE (3, 30, DUM1) ICUR
2207		STRING(11) = DUM3
	C	
6558		DUM3 = STRING(19)
8229		ENCODE (3, 32, DUM2) INEXT
erte		STRING(19) = DUMS
	2.2	CA
6211	56	FURMAILIS)
		CONVERT BLANKS TO ZEROS.
	· · ·	
0212		1F(STRING(3) .E0. "742) STRING(8) = "262
2214		IF (STRING(9) \cdot EC \cdot "242) STRING(9) = "662
2016		IF(STRING(16) .EC. #242) STRING(16) = #262
2218		IF(STRING(17) .EC. "242) STRING(17) = "362
2822		IAV = NENTRY + 1
	C	
	C	UPDATE DIRECTORY ENTRY AND CLOSE IT.
	C	
2221		WRITE(LUNUM'IAV) STRING
6655		CALL CLOSE(LUNUM)
2223		RETURN
6654		END

FORTR	AN IV			۷	2	10	-	23	SA			1	U	E	2	28	3 -	N	С	v.	- 7	78	ļ	ï	2	: (2 '	1 :	1	24									
6231		SU	BR	C	U	TI	N	E	С	0	۳,	AN	10	(AR	R	A	Y	,	1	15	i I	2	LLI.	,	1		1	C	h)								
	Cor							~			١,					.,	0		~																				
		PR	06	ĸ	A		E	U	9	T	1		11	٢	•	• •	L	2	5		•																		
	C	÷.,								l.					~					~	١,							e.			~	~							
	6	A		0	5	R	6	H P	R	A	-	1 2	R				m	A .	n.	۰.	1	0		*	N 1		1	١.	1	-	-	-	~	1	5				
		KE	¥8	Q	A	KU	_	AN	0		A	5	t	A	RL	. +	٩.	1	5	1	-	U	1			31	s .	. *	١.,	10	A	1	61	1.				~	
	C	IF	N	10		MA	1	Cr	۱.,	1	S	۴	0	5	NE))		A	LI	L	0	. U	M	1	A	N :	1:	۶.	. A	*	E.	-	L	12		E	č.	U.	11
	C	AN	0	1	H	E	R	01	IT.	1	NE	-		A	11	S	2	t	01	*	A	IN	U	ł	HI	Ε,	٢.	1	N	P	U	T	•						
	C																																						
	C	IN	PL	T	1	*																											Ŀ.						
	C		AR	R	A	۲	-	-	A	R	RI	AY		C	F	C	0	×	M	At	ND)S		T	0	ł	3 :		C	H	E	C	K	ED	•				
	C		IS	I	ZI	E	-	-	N	U	M	BE	R		OF		C	C	14	M /	AN	10	S		T	0	ê	BE		C	H	E	CI	(E	0	•			
	C																																						
	C	OU	TP	U	T		ŧ.																																
	C		MA	T	CI	H	-	-	A	R	RI	AY	6	S	UB	35	C	2	Ii	P 1	T	W	Н	£	RI	E	1	1 \$	T	C	h		00	: 0	U	RE	0		
	C																																						
2633		DI	ME	N	S	10	N	1	R	R	A '	4 (1)																									
0003	3	TY	PE		5	2																																	
2824	52	FO	RM	1 A	T	(1	,		\$	CI	OM	M	A	NC) :)														÷.						
2225		RE	AC) (5	,	1	12	. ,		5	RR	=	3)	R	E	P	1	Y																			
2226	112	FO	RM	A	T	(4)																															
2027		0.0	1	10			T	C+	=	1		1	S	T	78	2																							
0008	10	IF		18	R	4 4	10	~	T	c	H)		Ē	0.		R	E	P		1)		R	F	T I	11	21												
0212		TY	PF		2	10		1		R	R	6 V	10	T) .		£ "	-		1		1	5	T	7	F)												
0011	210	FO	DH		T	1			1	-				4	21			1			1	1	1	•	1														
2212	ere	0	1	10		2			'		~	• '		1	- 1	1	,			'	1		1		'														
0012		50		0	1	2																																	
6613		EN	0																																				

- 75 -

	A-23
AN IV	V21C-03A TUE 28-NOV-78 00:01:27
	SUBROUTINE TITLE(ITITLE)
C	
C	PROGRAMMED BY CHIP WILSON.
C	
C	THIS SUBROUTINE LISTS THE 40 CHARACTER TITLE CONTATNED IN
C	ARRAY ITITLE, ASKS THE OPERATOR IF HE WANTS TO CHANGE IT,
C	AND RETURNS WITH EITHER THE OLD TITLE OR A NEW TITLE AS
C	ENTERED BY THE OPERATOR.
C	이 가지 못하면 지수는 여기가 여기가 가지 않는 것이 같이 가지 않는 것이 같이 많이
	LOGICAL +1 ITITIE(20), ANS
C	
	TYPE 202. ITITLE
200	FORMATCH PRESENT TITLE: SI, 2241, ICI. /. ISNEW TITLE (Y/N)? ")
	ACCEDT 210. ANS
210	
210	TEL ANG NE HITT SETION
	10 120 1-1-20
100	
300	1111(E(J) = -640
	TTPE 350
350	FORMAT(SENTER NEW TITLE: ')
	ACCEPT 212, ITITLE
	RETURN
	END
	AN IV C C C C 200 210 300 350

FORTRAN IV	V21C-23A TUE 28-NOV-78 28:01:29
2221	FUNCTION NROUND(A)
C	THIS FUNCTION PERFORMS INTEGER ROUNDING OF A REAL NUMBER, ROUNDING UP FOR POSITIVE, AND DOWN FOR NEGATIVE
C	NDOUND - 1517(A + STON(2.5. A))
2223	RETURN END

FORTRA	N	1 V			۷	3'	10	-6	13	A			T	UE		5	8.	- N	10	١	- 1	78	١.	e	K	: :	21	:	? 1	1							
22 31			SI		ac	U	11	NE		0	AT	c	н	ĸ																							
	C .	•																		į.																	
	C .	•	Tł	115	5	R	20	11	N	E	C	H	E (C K	5		FC) #		٨	Ç	. U	R	4	E 1	41		U	A	t							
	C		IF		.0	(U	RA	E	NI	1	0		TE		E	X	IS	T	5	,	E	*	E	CI	11	11	0	N	1	S	+	A :	11	1 E	Ľ	
	C																																				
2225			LC	GI	C	AL		1	L	(9	>>																										
2223			CA	LL		51	T	E	L)																											
2234			IF	(1	(1))	. 1	E			2	61	2			CR			1	1	2)		• 1	NE			"í	. 6	2)	R	E1	٢.,	RM	ŧ.
2236			TY	PE		12	8																														
8237		12	FC	RP		T		5	L	E	S	Ε	1	EN	T	E	R	0	A	TI	E	C	0	-		-	1-	Y	¥ 1)							
8639			CI	LL		E)	1)	T																													
0229			EN	10																																	

V21C-23A TUE 23-NOV-78 02:21:33 FORTRAN IV SUBROUTINE DRAW(IXY, NELIR, FS) 22 31 C ... PLOT THE X-Y DATA ON THE DISPLAY TERMINAL. C ... C ... - ARRAY CONTAINING PAIRS OF X-Y POINTS WITH C ... IXY A FULL SCALE VALUE OF +/- 20400. C ... NPAIR - NUMBER OF PAIRS OF X-Y POINTS. C ... - FULL SCALE SIZE OF PLCT IN SCREEN UNITS C ... FS C ... THE CENTER OF THE PLOT IS TAKEN AS THE CURRENT SCREEN C ... THE DISPLAY BEAM IS LEFT IN THE CENTER C ... POSITION. OF THE PLOT AT COMPLETION. C ... C .. 2222 DIMENSION IXY(1) C ... ASSIGNMENT STATEMENT FOR CONVERSION C ... ICONV(I) = NROUND(FLOAT(I) * FACT) 8823 C ... FACT = FS / 28488. 2284 IXOLD = ICONV(IXY(1)) 2005 8236 IYOLD = ICONV(IXY(2)) CALL ROOT(FLOAT(IXOLD), FLOAT(IYOLD), -5) 2227 2208 DO 122 J=3,2*NPAIR-1,2 2039 IX = ICONV(IXY(J))2210 IY = ICONV(IXY(J+1))CALL VECTOFLOATCIX - IXCLD), FLOATCIY - IYCLD)) 2211 2212 IXOLD = IX 12. IYOLD = IY 2213 CALL ROOT(FLOAT(-IX), FLCAT(-IY), P, -5) 2014 2215 RETURN END 2016

A-26

- 79 -

																	A	-2	27																				
FORTR	AN IV			V	81	c -	- 2	3	A			TI	UE		2	8.	- N	0	¥.	- 7	8		22	:	2	1 :	1	5											
0001		FU	NC	т)	0	N	ĸ	E	YE	R	0	(MC	2	E)																							
	C																																						
	C	TH	IS	F	U	NC	17	I	10	£	1	S	U	S	E	0	T	0	1	PL	T		TH	Ε	1	KE	E٩	B	0	AS	10	2	11	N.	10	1			
	C	A	SP	EC	11	AL		*	55	4	1		ND		T	HE	N		C+	E	C	ĸ	T	0		SE	E		I	F	A	k.	<	CI	R)	£.			
	C	HAS	S	88	E	N	P	R	ES	S	E	D																											
	C																																						
	C	MOI	DE			Z		-	S	E	Т	1	κE	Y	B	0	R	D	1	T C	5	S	PE	C	I	AL		-	0	DE									
	C	MO	DE			1	-	**	c	H	E	CI	(F	õ	R	C	A	RF	1 5	A	G	E	R	E	TL	R	N			F		YE	E 1	ς,	į, i	CL	E	AR
	C					٩.			SP	F	č	1	41	1	M	0 r	E		1	N	10		RE	T	UI		8		1	τĥ		K	E			C			1.
	c								1 6	1	N	0		2	F	TI	iR	N		1	T	ы	K	F	Y	2.2		r.	2	1	έ.	1							1.0
2022		cn		0	1	10	10			a	0	š	2	M	ñ	ne				1		1		1	1	-	1			1									
0000	100	1	_ '		n.		1		å		~				ž	11	11	1		١.			1.2	a	5														
00000	100		÷	17		N C			* *			11	r E	5	n		4	4	1				1 10	r	1														
2004	222	RE	10	R																																			
6662	220	K &	YВ	RL	1	=	K																																
0226		IF	(1	11	II	NR	1)	٠	L	T (5)	R	12	T	UF	54	έ.,																		
8223		KE	YB	RC	0	=	1																																
2289		J	=	IF	0	KE	(44			11	PE	£	ĸ	(•	14	4)				12	2	>														
0010		RE	TU	RM																																			
0011		EN	0																																				

DISTRIBUTION LIST

Battelle-Columbus Laboratories (50) BNL Corrosion Science Group (50) Nuclear Regulatory Commission (OSD) ⁽⁵⁰⁾